
 

 

 

FRANKLIN CITY HALL CHAMBERS 

9229 W. LOOMIS ROAD  

FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN 

 
 

 PLAN COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA *REVISED 
Thursday, February 19, 2026 at 6:00 P.M. 

 

A. Call to Order and Roll Call 

 

B. Approval of Minutes 

1. Approval of the regular meeting of January 22, 2026. 

 

C. Public Hearing Business Matters.  

1. **Public Hearing regarding the proposed creation of Tax Incremental District No. 10, 

the proposed boundaries of the District, and the proposed Project Plan for the District.  Tax 

Incremental District No. 10 (TID 10) is a proposed Blighted Area District comprising 

approximately 30 acres located to the southeast of South 76th Street and West Rawson 

Avenue.  TID 10 will facilitate new residential and commercial development. 

2. Blomquist, Conditional Use, Request for approval of a Conditional Use for an approximately 

795 square foot attached Accessory Dwelling Unit, for property located at 8866 W. Puetz Road 

(TKN 839 9997 009) 

3. Krones, Inc. Special Use Amendment. Request for approval of a Special Use Amendment to 

allow for warehouse distribution and storage, for property located at 3617 W Oakwood Rd.  

(950-9001-000). 

  

D. Citizen comment period. Citizens may comment upon the Business Matter items set forth on this 

Meeting Agenda. 

 

E. Business Matters  

1. **Consideration and possible action on a “Resolution Establishing the Boundaries of and 

Approving the Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 10.”  Tax Incremental District 

No. 10 (TID 10) is a proposed Blighted Area District comprising approximately 30 acres 

located to the southeast of South 76th Street and West Rawson Avenue.  TID 10 will 

facilitate new residential and commercial development. 

2. Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance (Costco), Certified Survey Map. Request for 

recommendation to Common Council of an amendment to an application for a two-lot 

Certified Survey Map for the property located on the northwest corner of South 27th Street 

and West Drexel Avenue, addressed as 2710 W. Drexel Avenue, 1 & 2 Northwestern Mutual 

Way (TKN 786 9980 003).  

 

3. Thelen, Minor Site Plan Amendment. Request for approval of a Minor Site Plan 

Amendment for a fence exceeding 6 feet in height in a non-residential district, for property 

located at 8861 S 27th Street (TKN 855 9946 002). 



 

 

 

 

F. Adjournment 

 
The YouTube channel “City of Franklin WI” will live stream the Plan Commission meeting so the public can watch and listen to it at 
https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov. Any questions on this agenda may be directed to the Department of City Development’s 
office at 414-425-4024, Monday through Friday, 8 AM – 4:30 PM. 

 
*Supporting documentation and details of these agenda items are available at City Hall during regular business hours. 
**Notice is given that a majority of the Common Council may attend this meeting to gather information about an agenda item over which 
they have decision-making responsibility. This may constitute a meeting of the Common Council per State ex rel. Badke v. Greendale 
Village Board, even though the Common Council will not take formal action at this meeting. 
 
[Note: Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and 
services. For additional information, contact the City Clerk’s office at 414- 425-7500.] 

 

REMINDERS:  Next Regular Plan Commission Meeting: March 5, 2026. 

https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov


  

 

City of Franklin unapproved 

Plan Commission Meeting 

January 22, 2026 

Minutes 

 

      A.  Call to Order and Roll Call 

Mayor John Nelson called the January 22, 2026 Plan Commission meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. in 

the Council Chambers at Franklin City Hall, 9229 West Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin.  

 

Present were Mayor John Nelson, Alderman Nabil Salous, Alderwoman Courtney Day and 

Commissioners Rebecca Specht, Michael Shawgo and Patrick Leon. Excused was Commissioner 

Kevin Haley. Also present were City Attorney Jesse Wesolowski, Principal Planner Marion Ecks, 

Director of Economic Development John Regetz and Director of Administration Kelly Hersh. 

 

B.  Approval of Minutes – Regular Meeting of November 20, 2025. 

  Commissioner Leon moved and Alderman Salous seconded a motion to approve the meeting 

minutes. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1). 

 

  C.  Public Hearing Business Matters 

 

1.    Public Hearing regarding the proposed creation of Tax Incremental District No. 10, the 

proposed boundaries of the District, and the proposed Project Plan for the District [The 

Joint Review Board meeting to review the Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 

10 was cancelled, therefore the issue cannot be acted upon by the Plan Commission. It is 

the recommendation of staff to table the item to the February 19, 2026 Plan Commission 

meeting].  
                                              

This item was tabled to the February 19, 2026 Plan Commission meeting. 
 

2.  Communities of Crocus. Special Use Renewal (Time Extension). Renewal of approval of 

an application for a Special Use for Communities of Crocus to allow for development of up 

to four four-unit multifamily residential buildings (16 units total) with services for autistic 

adults, and related community buildings upon property located at 0 S. 31st Street (now 7347 

S. 31st Street), TKN 761 9992 002.  

 

Principal Planner Ecks presented the proposed creation of Tax Incremental District No. 10 

request. Applicant, Kevin Allenbach was present.  

 

The Official Notice of Public Hearing was read in to the record by Principal Planner Ecks 

and the Public Hearing opened at 6:06 pm and closed at 6:12 pm.  

 

Alderwoman Day moved and Commissioner Specht seconded a motion to recommend 

approval of a Resolution to amend Resolution No. 2024-8217, A Resolution imposing 

conditions and restrictions for the approval of a Special Use to allow for the development 

of a sixteen-unit supportive housing development, resident community center, and 

community Hub facility upon property located at 0 S. 31st Street (now 7347 S. 31st Street). 

      On roll call, all voted aye, motion carried (5-0-1). 

 

 D.   Citizen comment period. Citizens may comment upon the Business Matter items set forth   

on this meeting agenda. 



  

 

 

 The citizen comment period opened at 6:18 p.m. and closed at 6:18 p.m. No citizens present.  

 

   E.   Business Matters 

 
1.   Consideration and possible action on a “Resolution Establishing the Boundaries of and 

Approving the Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 10.” [The Joint Review Board 

meeting to review the Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 10 was cancelled, 

therefore the issue cannot be acted upon by the Plan Commission. It is the recommendation 

of staff to table the item to the February 19, 2026 Plan Commission meeting].  

                                                      

 This item was tabled to the February 19, 2026 Plan Commission meeting. 

 

  F.   Adjournment  

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Specht seconded to adjourn the meeting at 

6:20 pm. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1). 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 

      PLAN COMMISSION    

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2026-____ 

 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE BOUNDARIES OF AND APPROVING THE 

PROJECT PLAN FOR TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 10 

              

 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Franklin (the “City”) has determined that use of Tax Incremental 

Financing is required to promote development and redevelopment within the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, Tax Incremental District No. 10 (the “District”) is proposed to be created by 

the City in accordance with the provisions of Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105 (the "Tax 

Increment Law"); and 

 

WHEREAS, a Project Plan for the District has been prepared that includes:  

a. A statement listing of the kind, number and location of all proposed public works 

or improvements within the District, or to the extent provided in Wisconsin 

Statutes Sections 66.1105(2)(f)1.k. and 66.1105(2)(f)1.n., outside of the District; 

b. An economic feasibility study; 

c. A detailed list of estimated project costs; 

d. A description of the methods of financing all estimated project costs and the time 

when the related costs or monetary obligations are to be incurred; 

e. A map showing existing uses and conditions of real property in the District; 

f. A map showing proposed improvements and uses in the District; 

g. Proposed changes of zoning ordinances, master plan, map, building codes and 

City ordinances; 

h. A list of estimated non-project costs; 

i. A statement of the proposed plan for relocation of any persons to be displaced; 

j. A statement indicating how the District promotes the orderly development of the 

City; 

k. An opinion of the City Attorney or of an attorney retained by the City advising 

that the plan is complete and complies with Wisconsin Statutes Section 

66.1105(4)(f); and 

 

WHEREAS, prior to its publication, a copy of the notice of public hearing was sent to the 

chief executive officers of Milwaukee County, the Franklin Public School District, and the 

Milwaukee Area Technical College District, and any other entities having the power to levy 

taxes on property located within the District, in accordance with the procedures specified in the 

Tax Increment Law; and 

 

WHEREAS, prior to its publication, a copy of the notice of public hearing was also sent 

to the owners of all property in the proposed District; and 

 



TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 10 

RESOLUTION NO. 2026-____ 

Page 2 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the procedures specified in the Tax Increment Law, the 

Plan Commission, on February 19, 2026 held a public hearing concerning the proposed creation 

of the District, its proposed boundaries and its proposed Project Plan, providing interested parties 

a reasonable opportunity to express their views thereon. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Plan Commission of the City of 

Franklin that: 

 

1. It recommends to the Common Council that Tax Incremental District No. 10 be 

created with boundaries as designated in Exhibit A of this Resolution. 

 

2. It approves and adopts the Project Plan for the District, attached as Exhibit B, and 

recommends its approval to the Common Council. 

 

3. Creation of the District promotes orderly development in the City. 

 

 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin this 19th 

day of February, 2026. 

 

 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin 

this 19th day of February, 2026. 

 

       APPROVED: 

 

 

       _________________________________  

       John R. Nelson, Chairman 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________       

Shirley J. Roberts, City Clerk 

 

AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



City of Franklin, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 10 Plan Commission Resolution 
 

EXHIBIT A - 
 
 
 
 
 

TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 10 
BOUNDARY MAP 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[INCLUDED IN PROJECT PLAN] 



City of Franklin, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 10 Plan Commission Resolution 
 

EXHIBIT B - 
 
 
 
 
 

PROJECT PLAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[DISTRIBUTED SEPARATELY] 



 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 3 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 4 

 

 

 

 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 6 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 7 

 

Map Ref # Parcel Number

1 756 9993 021

2  756 9993 013

3 756 9993 005

4 756 9993 019

5  756 9993 018

6 756 9993 016

7 756 9993 012



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 8 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 9 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 10 

1) Estimated based on values as of January 1, 2025. Actual base value will be as of January 1, 2026.

2) Calculation based on aggregate assessment ratio of 90.76%.



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 11 

 

• 

• 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 12 

  

Valuation Test Compliance Calculation

City of Franklin, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 10



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 13 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 14 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 15 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 16 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 17 
 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 18 

Project ID Project Name/Type Totals

1 Development Incentives

     Land By Label 15,000,000 15,000,000

2 Ongoing Planning & Administrative Costs 705,000 705,000

Total Projects 15,705,000 15,705,000

City of Franklin, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 10

Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs

Est. Cost



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 19 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 20 

Actual Annual Total

Units Total Value Total Value

Estimated Value per

1 2026 146 23,068,000 (3,789,100) 19,278,900 2026 1

2 2027 146 23,068,000 23,068,000 2027 2

3 2028 0 0 2028 3

4 2029 0 0 2029 4

5 2030 0 0 2030 5

6 2031 0 0 2031 6

7 2032 0 0 2032 7

8 2033 0 0 2033 8

9 2034 0 0 2034 9

10 2035 0 0 2035 10

11 2036 0 0 2036 11

12 2037 0 0 2037 12

13 2038 0 0 2038 13

14 2039 0 0 2039 14

15 2040 0 0 2040 15

16 2041 0 0 2041 16

17 2042 0 0 2042 17

18 2043 0 0 2043 18

19 2044 0 0 2044 19

20 2045 0 0 2045 20

21 2046 0 0 2046 21

22 2047 0 0 2047 22

23 2048 0 0 2048 23

24 2049 0 0 2049 24

25 2050 0 0 2050 25

26 2051 0 0 2051 26

27 2052 0 0 2052 27

Totals 0 292 46,136,000 0 (3,789,100) 42,346,900

Notes:

1.) Developer plans to build 292 units, $158,00 AV per Unit, in 2026 and 2027

2.) No value assumed for Dollar General or other expected Commercial development. 

Construction 

Year

Construction 

Year

$158,000 

City of Franklin, Wisconsin

Tax Increment District No. 10

Development Assumptions

Poths General - 

Apartments1 Net Out Base2



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers Page | 21 

Table 2 – Tax Increment Projection Worksheet

Type of District Base Value 7,035,700

District Creation Date Economic Change Factor 0.00%

Valuation Date Jan 1, 2026 Apply to Base Value

Max Life (Years) Base Tax Rate 16.50$                  

End of Expenditure Period 22 3/17/2048 Rate Adjustment Factor -0.50%

Revenue Periods/Final Year 27 2054

Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3

Eligible Recipient District

Construction 

Year Value Added

Valuation 

Year

Economic 

Change

Total 

Increment

Revenue 

Year Tax Rate
1

Tax Increment

1 2026 19,278,900 2027 0 19,278,900 2028 $16.42 316,588

2 2027 23,068,000 2028 0 42,346,900 2029 $16.34 691,922

3 2028 0 2029 0 42,346,900 2030 $16.26 688,462

4 2029 0 2030 0 42,346,900 2031 $16.18 685,020

5 2030 0 2031 0 42,346,900 2032 $16.10 681,595

6 2031 0 2032 0 42,346,900 2033 $16.02 678,187

7 2032 0 2033 0 42,346,900 2034 $15.93 674,796

8 2033 0 2034 0 42,346,900 2035 $15.86 671,422

9 2034 0 2035 0 42,346,900 2036 $15.78 668,065

10 2035 0 2036 0 42,346,900 2037 $15.70 664,724

11 2036 0 2037 0 42,346,900 2038 $15.62 661,401

12 2037 0 2038 0 42,346,900 2039 $15.54 658,094

13 2038 0 2039 0 42,346,900 2040 $15.46 654,803

14 2039 0 2040 0 42,346,900 2041 $15.39 651,529

15 2040 0 2041 0 42,346,900 2042 $15.31 648,272

16 2041 0 2042 0 42,346,900 2043 $15.23 645,030

17 2042 0 2043 0 42,346,900 2044 $15.16 641,805

18 2043 0 2044 0 42,346,900 2045 $15.08 638,596

19 2044 0 2045 0 42,346,900 2046 $15.00 635,403

20 2045 0 2046 0 42,346,900 2047 $14.93 632,226

21 2046 0 2047 0 42,346,900 2048 $14.86 629,065

22 2047 0 2048 0 42,346,900 2049 $14.78 625,920

23 2048 0 2049 0 42,346,900 2050 $14.71 622,790

24 2049 0 2050 0 42,346,900 2051 $14.63 619,676

25 2050 0 2051 0 42,346,900 2052 $14.56 616,578

26 2051 0 2052 0 42,346,900 2053 $14.49 613,495

27 2052 0 2053 0 42,346,900 2054 $14.41 610,427

Totals 42,346,900 0 Future Value of Increment 17,225,891

Notes:

1) Tax rate shown is actual 2025/2026 rate per DOR Form PC-202 (Tax Increment Collection Worksheet).

Yes

City of Franklin, Wisconsin

Tax Increment District No. 10

Tax Increment Projection Worksheet

Blighted Area

March 17, 2026

27



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 22 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 23 

MRO #1

Land by Label2

Year $14,868,802 Year

2026 0 0 0 0 0 2026

2027 0 0 0 0 0 2027

2028 316,588 316,588 181,429 115,000 296,429 20,159 20,159 14,687,373 2028

2029 691,922 691,922 519,230 115,000 634,230 57,692 77,851 14,168,143 2029

2030 688,462 688,462 516,116 115,000 631,116 57,346 135,197 13,652,027 2030

2031 685,020 685,020 603,018 15,000 618,018 67,002 202,199 13,049,009 2031

2032 681,595 681,595 599,935 15,000 614,935 66,659 268,859 12,449,074 2032

2033 678,187 678,187 596,868 15,000 611,868 66,319 335,177 11,852,206 2033

2034 674,796 674,796 593,816 15,000 608,816 65,980 401,157 11,258,390 2034

2035 671,422 671,422 590,780 15,000 605,780 65,642 466,799 10,667,610 2035

2036 668,065 668,065 587,758 15,000 602,758 65,306 532,106 10,079,852 2036

2037 664,724 664,724 584,752 15,000 599,752 64,972 597,078 9,495,100 2037

2038 661,401 661,401 581,761 15,000 596,761 64,640 661,718 8,913,339 2038

2039 658,094 658,094 578,784 15,000 593,784 64,309 726,027 8,334,555 2039

2040 654,803 654,803 575,823 15,000 590,823 63,980 790,008 7,758,732 2040

2041 651,529 651,529 572,876 15,000 587,876 63,653 853,661 7,185,855 2041

2042 648,272 648,272 569,945 15,000 584,945 63,327 916,988 6,615,911 2042

2043 645,030 645,030 567,027 15,000 582,027 63,003 979,991 6,048,883 2043

2044 641,805 641,805 564,125 15,000 579,125 62,681 1,042,671 5,484,759 2044

2045 638,596 638,596 561,237 15,000 576,237 62,360 1,105,031 4,923,522 2045

2046 635,403 635,403 558,363 15,000 573,363 62,040 1,167,071 4,365,159 2046

2047 632,226 632,226 555,504 15,000 570,504 61,723 1,228,794 3,809,656 2047

2048 629,065 629,065 552,659 15,000 567,659 61,407 1,290,201 3,256,997 2048

2049 625,920 625,920 549,828 15,000 564,828 61,092 1,351,292 2,707,170 2049

2050 622,790 622,790 547,011 15,000 562,011 60,779 1,412,072 2,160,159 2050

2051 619,676 619,676 544,209 15,000 559,209 60,468 1,472,539 1,615,950 2051

2052 616,578 616,578 541,420 15,000 556,420 60,158 1,532,697 1,074,530 2052

2053 613,495 613,495 538,645 15,000 553,645 59,849 1,592,546 535,885 2053

2054 610,427 610,427 535,885 15,000 550,885 59,543 1,652,089 (0) 2054

Totals 17,225,891 0 17,225,891 14,868,802 705,000 15,573,802 Totals 

Notes:

1.) Admin fees are per the City's proforma

2.) MRO is not to exceed $15 million per draft Development Agreement LEGEND:

END OF EXP. PERIOD

Total 

Expenditures Annual Cumulative

PROJECTED CLOSURE YEAR

Projected Revenues

Total 

Revenues

Balances

Liabilities 

Outstanding

City of Franklin, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 10

Cash Flow Projection

Interest 

Earnings

Tax 

Increments

Ongoing 

Planning & 

Administration

Projected Expenditures



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 24 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 25 

 

 

 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 26 

• 

• 

• 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 27 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 28 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 10 Project Plan  City of Franklin 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 29 

Revenue 

Year

Milwaukee 

County

Milwaukee 

County Metro 

City of 

Franklin

Franklin School 

District

Milwaukee 

Area Technical Total

Revenue 

Year

2028 68,273 26,884 96,975 146,855 17,398 356,385 2028

2029 148,589 58,510 211,055 319,615 37,866 775,635 2029

2030 147,846 58,217 210,000 318,017 37,677 771,756 2030

2031 147,107 57,926 208,950 316,427 37,488 767,898 2031

2032 146,371 57,636 207,905 314,845 37,301 764,058 2032

2033 145,639 57,348 206,866 313,270 37,114 760,238 2033

2034 144,911 57,061 205,831 311,704 36,929 756,437 2034

2035 144,187 56,776 204,802 310,146 36,744 752,654 2035

2036 143,466 56,492 203,778 308,595 36,560 748,891 2036

2037 142,748 56,210 202,759 307,052 36,378 745,147 2037

2038 142,035 55,929 201,745 305,517 36,196 741,421 2038

2039 141,325 55,649 200,737 303,989 36,015 737,714 2039

2040 140,618 55,371 199,733 302,469 35,835 734,025 2040

2041 139,915 55,094 198,734 300,957 35,655 730,355 2041

2042 139,215 54,818 197,741 299,452 35,477 726,703 2042

2043 138,519 54,544 196,752 297,955 35,300 723,070 2043

2044 137,827 54,272 195,768 296,465 35,123 719,455 2044

2045 137,137 54,000 194,789 294,983 34,948 715,857 2045

2046 136,452 53,730 193,815 293,508 34,773 712,278 2046

2047 135,769 53,462 192,846 292,040 34,599 708,717 2047

2048 135,091 53,194 191,882 290,580 34,426 705,173 2048

2049 134,415 52,928 190,923 289,127 34,254 701,647 2049

2050 133,743 52,664 189,968 287,681 34,083 698,139 2050

2051 133,074 52,400 189,018 286,243 33,912 694,648 2051

2052 132,409 52,138 188,073 284,812 33,743 691,175 2052

2053 131,747 51,878 187,133 283,388 33,574 687,719 2053

2054 131,088 51,618 186,197 281,971 33,406 684,280 2054

Totals 3,699,517 1,456,750 5,254,775 7,957,660 942,773 19,311,475

Estimated portion of taxes that owners of taxable property in each taxing jurisdiction overlaying 

district would pay by jurisdiction.

City of Franklin, Wisconsin

Tax Increment District No. 10



   

 

SB Friedman Development Advisors, LLC  312 424 4250 

70 W Madison St, Suite 3700 Chicago IL 60602  sbfriedman.com 

MEMO 
 

To: City of Franklin 

From: SB Friedman Development Advisors, LLC 

Date: December 23, 2025 

 

RE: Poth’s General Development Underwriting Analysis 

Project Background 
SB Friedman Development Advisors, LLC (SB Friedman) was engaged by the City of Franklin (“City”) to conduct a 

preliminary financial review of a proposed redevelopment of the Orchard View Shopping Center on 76th Street, south 

of Rawson Avenue (“Site”). The redevelopment of the Site includes 304 residential units located within a three-story 

apartment building and eight (8) garden style buildings, and 4,000 square feet of retail space (“Project”), as shown in 

Figure 1. The Project is anticipated to cost $85.8M. The Project will be developed by Land by Label (“Developer”). 

 

Figure 1. Proposed Site Plan 

 
Source: Rinka, City of Franklin 

 

Throughout 2025, SB Friedman reviewed multiple iterations of the development pro forma and worked with the City 

and Developer to negotiate terms around the City’s participation in the Project. The term sheet, agreed to in principle 

on July 22nd, included the following (see Exhibit A for full terms): 

Appendix A Page 1 of 8



City of Franklin | Poth’s General Development Underwriting Analysis 

SB Friedman Development Advisors, LLC 2  

 

• Public financial assistance to the Project, not to exceed $17,200,000. 

• The assistance would be provided through municipal revenue obligation (MRO) payments equaling 90% of 

the incremental property taxes generated by the Project over the 27-year lifetime of a proposed Tax 

Increment Financing District (“TID”).  

• The requested MRO payments would be contingent on the Project receiving an occupancy permit from the 

City and achieving certain occupancy thresholds (Exhibit A Section 1.a.i. and ii.). 

• Any cost savings determined after construction would be shared equally between the Developer and City. 

• If the Project achieves financial returns above 17% IRR or 3.00x investor return multiple, the City would be 

entitled to 25% of excess proceeds, not to exceed $2,500,000.  

 

This memo reflects an analysis conducted on an updated pro forma prepared by the Developer and submitted to SB 

Friedman on December 17th, 2025. Relative to the assumptions reviewed during the term sheet negotiation, the Project 

unit count has reduced from 311 to 304 and the commercial SF has increased from 2,800 to 4,000. These changes 

resulted in the development budget decreasing from $68.1 million to $63.5 million, in addition to other marginal 

changes throughout the Developer’s pro forma (e.g., more detailed construction cost estimates). 

 

The purpose of this analysis is to evaluate whether the Project, as presented in the Developer’s most recent pro forma, 

appears to need public financial assistance, at the levels agreed to in principle in July 2025, in order to generate 

sufficient returns to be financially feasible. This financial “but-for” test is analytical in nature and is meant to inform 

a larger policy discussion regarding whether the Project meets desired public objectives. 

 

Review Process 
SB Frieman’s review process utilizes an in-depth review of the Project, comparable projects within the surrounding 

market, and industry data to answer the following questions: 

 

1. Review Project and Site Context 

a. Where is the project located? 

b. What is the development program and mix of land uses? 

2. Evaluate Development Budget 

a. What are the project development costs? (land, construction costs, etc.) 

b. Are project costs in line with industry benchmarks? If not, why? 

3. Evaluate Financing Assumptions 

a. How does the developer intend to finance the project (debt, equity, etc.)? 

b. Are financing assumptions in line with current market expectations? 

4. Evaluate Operating Assumptions 

a. Are revenue (e.g., rents) and expense assumptions reasonable given target tenant profile, market context 

and industry benchmarks? 

5. Calculate Project Financial Returns 

a. Is the project achieving a level of financial returns that would make attract sufficient debt and equity 

investment? 

6. Identify Financial Gap 

a. Is there a demonstrable financial gap that requires public assistance to make the project viable? 

7. Identify Drivers of Need for Assistance 

a. What project components are driving the financial gap? 

b. Do these drivers align with larger policy goals? 

 

Appendix A Page 2 of 8



City of Franklin | Poth’s General Development Underwriting Analysis 

SB Friedman Development Advisors, LLC 3  

 

Review of Developer’s Model 
Key takeaways from SB Friedman’s review of the Developer’s pro forma are outlined below. 

 

DEVELOPMENT HARD AND SOFT COSTS 

• The estimated total development costs (TDC) of the Project are $85.3 million. 

• The Developer estimates hard costs of approximately $208,764/unit, which is lower than the range of 

comparable projects reviewed by SB Friedman, including Land by Label’s recent project in West Allis. 

o The project is larger in both unit count and gross square footage than other similar projects reviewed, 

which likely contributes to the lower cost per unit and square footage. It should be noted that most 

recent iteration of the development pro forma includes detailed construction costs estimates from a 

construction bid dated 11/7/2025.  

• Soft and financing costs are expected to be 8.7% and 5.4% of TDC, respectively, or 14.1% of TDC in aggregate. 

This is within our benchmark range of 10-15% of TDC.   

• The Developer is including a developer fee of 4.1% of TDC, net of acquisition costs, which is below our 5% 

benchmark. 

 

FINANCING ASSUMPTIONS 

• The Developer's permanent financing assumptions, including amortization (30 years), interest rate (5.93%), cap 

rate (5.75%), and debt coverage ratio (1.25), align with the current financing environment. 

 

OPERATING ASSUMPTIONS 

• Average rent is assumed to be $2.00/SF at stabilization. This rent appears reasonable based on the achievable 

rents at Velo Village and other comparable projects in Franklin and the surrounding municipalities. Additional 

details on rent by unit type can be seen below in Figure 2.  

• The unit sizes proposed in the Project are smaller than recent comparable projects. Smaller unit sizes contribute 

to the higher per SF rent values for the Project compared to the market, even for unit types with similar chunk 

rent. Only 3-bedroom units are anticipated to achieve lower per square foot rent and chunk rent than the 

comps. It appears that 3-bedrooms units are not a common typology within this new construction rental 

market, and the Project includes only 29 3-bedroom units. 

 

Figure 2. Effective Rent of Comparable Projects 

 Studio 1-Bedroom 2-Bedroom 3-Bedroom 

 Chunk Per SF Chunk Per SF Chunk Per SF Chunk Per SF 

Poth’s General $1,439 $2.50 $1,589 $2.17 $2,072 $1.86 $2,596 $1.87 

Comp Average[1] $1,434 $2.20 $1,636 $2.03 $2,046 $1.75 $2,758 $1.94 

[1] Comparable projects in nearby municipalities were used to supplement data for Studio and 3-Bedroom values 

Source: CoStar, Land by Label, SB Friedman 

 

• Stabilized expenses are assumed to be 19.2% of revenue, which is within range of our 20% benchmark. 

• The Developer is assuming 3% annual rent and expense escalation, which is at the high end of the range 

typically observed by SB Friedman in similar projects (2-3%). 

• The Developer assumes property taxes per square foot will be $2.83/SF at stabilization. This value appears 

reasonable based on the value of comparable projects in Franklin and the assumed tax rate of 16.26 in 2028 

as projected in our TIF projection model (tax rate provided by Staff). 

Appendix A Page 3 of 8



City of Franklin | Poth’s General Development Underwriting Analysis 

SB Friedman Development Advisors, LLC 4  

• The Developer is assuming $13/SF NNN in rent from the commercial component which appears conservative 

based on market data from CoStar ($17.50/SF) but may be appropriate given the location of the proposed 

commercial space (set back from 76th Street, which limits visibility).  

 

FINANCIAL GAP WITHOUT ASSISTANCE 

• Without assistance, the Project is expected to achieve a leveraged internal rate of return (LIRR) of 7.49%, which 

is well below the required returns to make a project feasible in the current market. 

• The Developer has indicated that their equity investors typically require a return of at least 12% LIRR, which is 

below the 15% return typically expected in the current market.  

• The gap between achievable returns without assistance and expected returns is primarily driven by the 

relationship between cost of construction and achievable rents within the market. 

• At this anticipated financial return, the developer would have a difficult time attracting the necessary investor 

equity required to complete the Project.  

 

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE REQUEST 

• The Developer’s financial assistance request, as noted above, consists of MRO payments equaling 90% of the 

incremental property taxes generated by the Project over the 27-year lifetime of the proposed TID. 

• Based on SB Friedman’s projections, which were updated to reflect the change in the development program 

and tax rate, the Project is estimated to generate approximately $18 million in incremental property taxes over 

the 27-year life of the TID. This value is lower than projections completed in July 2025 due to the reduction in 

unit count from 311 to 304 and the 2026 Base Tax Rate changing from 17.71 to 16.504 per staff.  

• Key assumptions included in the projections are outlined below: 

o The projections assume the base value of the TID to be $3,789,100.  

o The added assessed value per unit is assumed to be approximately $158,000 (2025$), which is within 

range of Velo Village and other comparable projects in the surrounding market.  

o Based on discussions with the City, the projections assume 0% value appreciation and a -0.5% annual 

decline in tax rate over the lifetime of the TID. 
 

PROJECT FINANCIAL RETURNS WITH ASSISTANCE 

• With the requested financial assistance, the Project is expected to achieve a financial return of 11.09% LIRR.  

• While this is still below the typical return expectations, the Developer indicated the Project can be financed 

and completed as proposed. 

 

FINANCIAL BUT-FOR TEST  

• Based on SB Friedman’s analysis of the Developer’s financial pro forma, we determined that the assumptions 

are reasonable based on comparable projects and current market conditions. 

• Without assistance, the Project would achieve returns substantially below expected market returns as stated 

by Land by Label and as observed by SB Friedman on other recent development projects in the region.  

• Therefore, it is our conclusion that this Project would not occur, as presented, but-for the financial assistance 

requested by the Developer.  

  

Appendix A Page 4 of 8



City of Franklin | Poth’s General Development Underwriting Analysis 

SB Friedman Development Advisors, LLC 5  

Limitations of our Engagement 
 

Our deliverables are based on estimates, assumptions and other information developed from research of the market, 

knowledge of the industry, and meetings with the City and Developer during which we obtained certain information. 

The sources of information and bases of the estimates and assumptions are stated in the deliverable. Some assumptions 

inevitably will not materialize, and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur; therefore, actual results achieved 

during the period covered by our analysis will necessarily vary from those described in our report, and the variations 

may be material.  

 

The terms of this engagement are such that we have no obligation to revise analyses or the deliverables to reflect 

events or conditions that occur subsequent to the date of the deliverable. These events or conditions include, without 

limitation, economic growth trends, governmental actions, changes in state statute or city ordinance, additional 

competitive developments, interest rates, and other market factors. However, we will be available to discuss the 

necessity for revision in view of changes in the economic or market factors affecting the proposed project.  

 

Our deliverables are intended solely for your information, for purposes of reviewing a request for financial assistance, 

and do not constitute a recommendation to issue bonds or other securities. The deliverable should not be relied upon 

by any other person, firm or corporation, or for any other purposes. Neither the report nor its contents, nor any 

reference to our Firm, may be included or quoted in any offering circular or registration statement, appraisal, sales 

brochure, prospectus, loan, or other agreement or document intended for use in obtaining funds from individual 

investors without our prior written consent.  

 

We acknowledge that upon submission to the City of Franklin, the report may become a public document within the 

meaning of the Freedom of Information Act. Nothing in these limitations is intended to block the disclosure of the 

documents under such Act. 

  

Appendix A Page 5 of 8



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Letter of Intent for 

Tax Incremental Financing 

Poths General Redevelopment of Orchard View Shopping Center 

 City of Franklin 

July 17, 2025 

 

PRIVELEGED & CONFIDENTIAL 

 

Land By Label LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company (“LxL”) is currently working toward 

the redevelopment of the largely vacant and unsightly Orchard View Shopping Center (the 

“Redevelopment”) near the southeast corner of Rawson and 76th Street in Franklin, Wisconsin 

(the “City”). The Redevelopment is planned as a dynamic mixed-use community featuring a wide 

range of use categories, including food and beverage purveyors, retail, luxury apartments. The 

project will be known as “Poths General” (“Poths General”).  Poths General will require 

significant infrastructure, including traffic improvements, demolition and disposal of the blighted 

shopping center and streetscaping (the “Infrastructure”) and is not financially feasible without 

the financial help of the City.  Therefore, LxL and City agree to the following terms to facilitate 

Poths General, which terms are non-binding and remain subject to execution and approval of a 

mutually agreeable development agreement. 

 

1. LXL Obligations 

a. LXL shall complete demolition on the existing shopping center by December 31, 

2025 and commence construction on Poths General by April 1, 2026.  

b. LXL shall obtain certificates of occupancy for all of the residential units (the 

“Residential Property”) in Poths General by July 1, 2028 (“Occupancy Date”). 

c. LXL shall construct Poths General in accordance with City approved plans and 

specifications.  

d. LXL shall collaborate and cooperate with City on the creation of a tax incremental 

financing district for the Redevelopment. 

e. LXL shall obtain debt and/or cash and other equity in the aggregate amount of 

approximately $90,800,000 required to construct Poths General (the “LXL 

Funds”) (subject to the City Funds, as defined herein). 

f. LXL will provide a reasonable construction completion guaranty. 

g. LXL shall commence formal marketing efforts on that certain commercial parcel 

adjacent to 76th Street (the “Commercial Parcel”) within 60 days following the 

later of City’s approval of: (a) tax incremental financing for the project on the terms 

generally outlined herein and (b) City’s approval of all entitlements, permits and 

other approvals necessary for the development and construction of Poths General.  

LXL shall deliver to the City evidence reasonably demonstrating LXL’s marketing  

efforts for the Commercial Parcel. 

DRAFT

Appendix A Page 6 of 8

Joe Krivichi
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT A



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

h. LXL shall use best efforts to develop the Commercial Parcel at a minimum of 

25,000 square feet of commercial building space; provided that, City approves such 

development intensity on the Commercial Parcel. 

i. LXL Shall grade & hydroseed the Commercial Parcel by May 1, 2026. 

j. If LXL or an affiliate has not commenced construction on the Commercial Parcel 

within three (3) years after completion of footings and foundations on Poths General, 

then the City shall have the right to acquire the Commercial Parcel for $1.00. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, LXL shall have the right to repurchase the Commercial 

Parcel for $1.00 if it secures a buyer and/or tenant for the Commercial Parcel, obtains 

a building permit for the same, and the City has not previously sold and/or leased the 

Commercial Parcel to another party in an arms-length, third party transaction.  

 

2. City Funds 

a. Municipal Revenue Obligation.  To allow LXL to recoup a portion of LXL’s Funds 

expended for Poths General, including the public parks and infrastructure, the City 

shall provide a municipal revenue obligation (i.e. developer-financed TIF) (the 

“MRO”) on the following terms: 

i. The first MRO payment shall not occur until March 31 following the year a 

temporary occupancy permit has been issued for the Residential Property 

and every year after, at which time LXL shall receive percentage of 

remaining tax increment equal to percentage of occupancy as of January 1 

of such year after payment of City Admin Costs (as defined below) (the 

“Reduced MRO Payment”) until the Residential Property reaches 90% 

occupancy for a period of 3 months (the “Occupancy Threshold”). 

ii. Once the Residential Property reaches the Occupancy Threshold, LXL shall 

receive: (a) the difference between 90% of remaining tax increment after 

City Admin Costs and the Reduced MRO Payment, plus (b) 90% of 

remaining tax increment after City Admin Costs every year after. 

iii. Administration fees and City principal and interest, if any, on City interfund 

advances (the “City Admin Costs”) shall not exceed $115,000 withheld 

from years 1, 2 and 3 and not exceed $15,000 per year for each subsequent 

payment.  

iv. MRO shall be capped at $17,200,000. The City shall have the right to prepay 

outstanding amounts due on the MRO subject to a mutually agreeable valuation 

method. 

b. Impact Fee Waiver: As part of the Redevelopment, LXL will install significant traffic 

improvements, if warranted. Accordingly, the City shall waive the transportation 

impact fee (of what would be collected by the City) up to/equal to the amount of 

construction costs of the warranted improvements; provided, however, that LXL shall 

be obligated to pay all other impact fees and connection fees. The foregoing impact fee 

credit does not apply to the development of the Commercial parcel.  

 

 

DRAFT

Appendix A Page 7 of 8



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

3. Cost Savings.  LXL and the City shall share equally in all cost savings (excluding therefrom 

construction interest reserves and reasonable capital improvement reserves), within 90 days 

following the City’s issuance of a certificate of occupancy for the last residential unit in 

Poths General and LXL’s construction lender’s approval of the release of such funds.  
 

4. Contingent Interest.  The City shall have a contingent interest in Poths General, whereby 

the City shall be entitled to 25% of proceeds above the greater of a 17.00% IRR or 3.00x 

multiple calculated on investor returns and equity; provided that, the aggregate amount of 

the contingent interest shall not exceed $2,500,000. 

 

We believe Poths General is a catalytic redevelopment opportunity representing best-in-class 

concept and design.  The redevelopment of the blighted Orchard View Shopping Center will have 

a positive impact beyond its boundaries.  I look forward to seeing our shared vision brought to life. 

 

 

AGREED TO IN PRINCIPLE AS OF THE ____ DAY OF JULY, 2025. 

 

 

_______________________________________ 

John Nelson 

City of Franklin 

Mayor 

 

 
_______________________________________ 

Ian B. Martin 

Land By Label LLC 

Managing Principal 

 

 

  

DRAFT

Appendix A Page 8 of 8



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Orchard View Shopping Center Blight Designation Narrative & Photos 

 

Orchard View Shopping Center, located at 7154 S 76th Street, is a mostly vacant, deteriorated 

shopping center characterized by aging, dilapidated buildings with failing roofs, outdated 

mechanical systems, inadequate lighting and ventilation, and neglected site improvements that 

pose fire and safety hazards. The building has been repeatedly graffitied, and several long-vacant 

spaces have been used over the years for miscellaneous storage, requiring substantial clean-out 

before they can be safely accessed or reused. The parking lot is severely deteriorated with 

extensive potholes, crumbling pavement, and non-functioning parking lot lights, creating unsafe 

conditions and contributing to crime and vandalism. Many utility services to the buildings have 

been disconnected, rendering the spaces unusable for prospective tenants even when tenant 

interest exists.  

 

The approximately 13-acres of vacant land east of the shopping center has historically been used 

as an unregulated dump area for non-structural soil fill, resulting in uneven grades, unstable 

ground conditions, and pockets of subsurface debris that pose risks to public safety and future 

development. Former farm ponds on the property have been partially filled with gravel, rubble, 

and miscellaneous refuse, contributing to unsafe conditions. Furthermore, the absence of 

functional infrastructure substantially impairs the viability of the site. 

 

These combined factors create conditions detrimental to public health, safety, and welfare and 

substantially impair the sound growth of the surrounding community. 

 

The enclosed photos depict the deteriorated state of the property.  

 

 

  

Appendix B Page 1 of 7



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Appendix B Page 2 of 7



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Appendix B Page 3 of 7



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

Appendix B Page 4 of 7



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Appendix B Page 5 of 7



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

Appendix B Page 6 of 7



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

Appendix B Page 7 of 7



Creation of Tax Increment District No. 10 



•

✓

✓

•

•

What is Tax Increment Financing?



TIF Fundamentals



•

•

✓

✓

✓

✓

Proposed TID Boundary 



•

•

Equalized Value Test



•

✓

✓

•

Blighting Conditions



Development Assumptions

•

•

Actual Annual Total

Units Total Value Total Value

Estimated Value per

1 2026 146 23,068,000 (3,789,100) 19,278,900 2026 1

2 2027 146 23,068,000 23,068,000 2027 2

3 2028 0 0 2028 3

4 2029 0 0 2029 4

5 2030 0 0 2030 5

6 2031 0 0 2031 6

7 2032 0 0 2032 7

8 2033 0 0 2033 8

9 2034 0 0 2034 9

10 2035 0 0 2035 10

11 2036 0 0 2036 11

12 2037 0 0 2037 12

13 2038 0 0 2038 13

14 2039 0 0 2039 14

15 2040 0 0 2040 15

16 2041 0 0 2041 16

17 2042 0 0 2042 17

18 2043 0 0 2043 18

19 2044 0 0 2044 19

20 2045 0 0 2045 20

21 2046 0 0 2046 21

22 2047 0 0 2047 22

23 2048 0 0 2048 23

24 2049 0 0 2049 24

25 2050 0 0 2050 25

26 2051 0 0 2051 26

27 2052 0 0 2052 27

Totals 0 292 46,136,000 0 (3,789,100) 42,346,900

Construction 

Year

Construction 

Year

$158,000 

Poths General - 

Apartments1 Net Out Base2



Proposed Poth’s 
General Site Plan 



Project List & Development Incentive

Project ID Project Name/Type Totals

1 Development Incentives

     Land By Label 15,000,000 15,000,000

2 Ongoing Planning & Administrative Costs 705,000 705,000

Total Projects 15,705,000 15,705,000

City of Franklin, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 10

Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs

Est. Cost

•

•

•



Projected Incremental 
Value

Type of District Base Value 7,035,700

District Creation Date Economic Change Factor 0.00%

Valuation Date Jan 1, 2026 Apply to Base Value

Max Life (Years) Base Tax Rate 16.50$                  

End of Expenditure Period 22 3/17/2048 Rate Adjustment Factor -0.50%

Revenue Periods/Final Year 27 2054

Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3

Eligible Recipient District

Construction 

Year Value Added

Valuation 

Year

Economic 

Change

Total 

Increment

Revenue 

Year Tax Rate1 Tax Increment

1 2026 19,278,900 2027 0 19,278,900 2028 $16.42 316,588

2 2027 23,068,000 2028 0 42,346,900 2029 $16.34 691,922

3 2028 0 2029 0 42,346,900 2030 $16.26 688,462

4 2029 0 2030 0 42,346,900 2031 $16.18 685,020

5 2030 0 2031 0 42,346,900 2032 $16.10 681,595

6 2031 0 2032 0 42,346,900 2033 $16.02 678,187

7 2032 0 2033 0 42,346,900 2034 $15.93 674,796

8 2033 0 2034 0 42,346,900 2035 $15.86 671,422

9 2034 0 2035 0 42,346,900 2036 $15.78 668,065

10 2035 0 2036 0 42,346,900 2037 $15.70 664,724

11 2036 0 2037 0 42,346,900 2038 $15.62 661,401

12 2037 0 2038 0 42,346,900 2039 $15.54 658,094

13 2038 0 2039 0 42,346,900 2040 $15.46 654,803

14 2039 0 2040 0 42,346,900 2041 $15.39 651,529

15 2040 0 2041 0 42,346,900 2042 $15.31 648,272

16 2041 0 2042 0 42,346,900 2043 $15.23 645,030

17 2042 0 2043 0 42,346,900 2044 $15.16 641,805

18 2043 0 2044 0 42,346,900 2045 $15.08 638,596

19 2044 0 2045 0 42,346,900 2046 $15.00 635,403

20 2045 0 2046 0 42,346,900 2047 $14.93 632,226

21 2046 0 2047 0 42,346,900 2048 $14.86 629,065

22 2047 0 2048 0 42,346,900 2049 $14.78 625,920

23 2048 0 2049 0 42,346,900 2050 $14.71 622,790

24 2049 0 2050 0 42,346,900 2051 $14.63 619,676

25 2050 0 2051 0 42,346,900 2052 $14.56 616,578

26 2051 0 2052 0 42,346,900 2053 $14.49 613,495

27 2052 0 2053 0 42,346,900 2054 $14.41 610,427

Totals 42,346,900 0 Future Value of Increment 17,225,891

Notes:

1) Tax rate shown is actual 2025/2026 rate per DOR Form PC-202 (Tax Increment Collection Worksheet).

Yes

Blighted Area

March 17, 2026

27



Cash Flow Projection
MRO #1

Land by Label2

Year $14,868,802 Year

2026 0 0 0 0 0 2026

2027 0 0 0 0 0 2027

2028 316,588 316,588 181,429 115,000 296,429 20,159 20,159 14,687,373 2028

2029 691,922 691,922 519,230 115,000 634,230 57,692 77,851 14,168,143 2029

2030 688,462 688,462 516,116 115,000 631,116 57,346 135,197 13,652,027 2030

2031 685,020 685,020 603,018 15,000 618,018 67,002 202,199 13,049,009 2031

2032 681,595 681,595 599,935 15,000 614,935 66,659 268,859 12,449,074 2032

2033 678,187 678,187 596,868 15,000 611,868 66,319 335,177 11,852,206 2033

2034 674,796 674,796 593,816 15,000 608,816 65,980 401,157 11,258,390 2034

2035 671,422 671,422 590,780 15,000 605,780 65,642 466,799 10,667,610 2035

2036 668,065 668,065 587,758 15,000 602,758 65,306 532,106 10,079,852 2036

2037 664,724 664,724 584,752 15,000 599,752 64,972 597,078 9,495,100 2037

2038 661,401 661,401 581,761 15,000 596,761 64,640 661,718 8,913,339 2038

2039 658,094 658,094 578,784 15,000 593,784 64,309 726,027 8,334,555 2039

2040 654,803 654,803 575,823 15,000 590,823 63,980 790,008 7,758,732 2040

2041 651,529 651,529 572,876 15,000 587,876 63,653 853,661 7,185,855 2041

2042 648,272 648,272 569,945 15,000 584,945 63,327 916,988 6,615,911 2042

2043 645,030 645,030 567,027 15,000 582,027 63,003 979,991 6,048,883 2043

2044 641,805 641,805 564,125 15,000 579,125 62,681 1,042,671 5,484,759 2044

2045 638,596 638,596 561,237 15,000 576,237 62,360 1,105,031 4,923,522 2045

2046 635,403 635,403 558,363 15,000 573,363 62,040 1,167,071 4,365,159 2046

2047 632,226 632,226 555,504 15,000 570,504 61,723 1,228,794 3,809,656 2047

2048 629,065 629,065 552,659 15,000 567,659 61,407 1,290,201 3,256,997 2048

2049 625,920 625,920 549,828 15,000 564,828 61,092 1,351,292 2,707,170 2049

2050 622,790 622,790 547,011 15,000 562,011 60,779 1,412,072 2,160,159 2050

2051 619,676 619,676 544,209 15,000 559,209 60,468 1,472,539 1,615,950 2051

2052 616,578 616,578 541,420 15,000 556,420 60,158 1,532,697 1,074,530 2052

2053 613,495 613,495 538,645 15,000 553,645 59,849 1,592,546 535,885 2053

2054 610,427 610,427 535,885 15,000 550,885 59,543 1,652,089 (0) 2054

Totals 17,225,891 0 17,225,891 14,868,802 705,000 15,573,802 Totals 

Notes:

1.) Admin fees are per the City's proforma

2.) MRO is not to exceed $15 million per draft Development Agreement LEGEND:

END OF EXP. PERIOD

City of Franklin, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 10

Cash Flow Projection

Interest 

Earnings

Tax 

Increments

Ongoing 

Planning & 

Administration

Projected Expenditures

Liabilities 

Outstanding

PROJECTED CLOSURE YEAR

Projected Revenues

Total 

Revenues

Balances

Total 

Expenditures Annual Cumulative



•

•

•

•

✓

•

Timeline



      C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N       
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 
Meeting of February 19, 2026 

 
Conditional Use 

Item C.2 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  The Department of City Development recommends approval of this 
Conditional Use request for an Attached Accessory Dwelling Unit, which is a conditional 
accessory use in the R-SR: Suburban Residence District. 

Project Name:  Blomquist Attached ADU 

Property Owner:  Benjamin C. Blomquist  
Applicant:  Benjamin C. Blomquist 

Agent:  Joe Malkowski, JM Design Studio 
Project Address/Tax Key:  8866 W. Puetz Rd / 839 9997 009 

Aldermanic District:  District 2 
Zoning District:  R-SR: Suburban Residence District 

Staff Planner:  Rose Melton, Assistant Planner 
Application Number: PPZ25-0202 
 
Introduction: 
 
The property owner and applicant, Benjamin Blomquist, requests approval of an attached 
accessory dwelling unit (ADU) at 866 W. Puetz Rd. Attached accessory dwelling units are a 
conditional use in the R-SR: Suburban Residence District. Once completed, the ADU will be 
approximately 795 square feet and will have one bedroom and one bathroom. 
 
Project Analysis: 
This application is only for the review of the accessory dwelling unit use for the property based 
on the use-specific and conditional use standards. The proposed accessory dwelling unit will also 
require building and trades permits. 

Summary of 
Standard 

Staff’s Finding 

1. Ordinance and 
Comprehensive 
Master Plan 
purposes and intent.  

The proposed accessory dwelling unit is consistent with the 
comprehensive plan as this property is intended for residential uses by 
the City of Franklin 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan. The R-SR: 
Suburban Residence District is intended to allow infill development 
and new residential growth. An accessory dwelling unit is compatible 
with and advances this zoning district’s intention. 
 

2. No Undue Adverse 
Impact. 

 
The proposed accessory dwelling unit (ADU) is consistent with the 
residential character of the surrounding properties in both form and 



 2 

Summary of 
Standard 

Staff’s Finding 

use. The ADU adheres to the zoning regulations intended to prevent 
adverse impact on adjacent properties including height, setback, and 
impervious surface regulations. 
 

3. Compatibility with 
Surrounding 
Development. 

The subject and surrounding properties to the north, east, and west are 
zoned R-SR: Suburban Residence District. This district, and the 
existing development pattern, consists of suburban character 
residential development. Properties to the south are zoned Planned 
Development Legacy 20, which is a residential development. The 
proposed accessory dwelling unit use would be compatible with the 
current conditions of surrounding development. 
 
The proposed accessory dwelling unit also will not be visible from 
Puetz Road.   

4. Adequate Public 
Facilities. 

The applicant intends to utilize the existing water and sewer service 
connection to serve both the accessory dwelling unit and existing 
home. 
 

5. Adequate 
Circulation. 

The Unified Development Ordinance requires that the principal and 
accessory dwelling are served by the same driveway. Traffic generated 
by the accessory dwelling unit will not exceed that of typical 
residential uses. 
 

6. No Destruction of 
Significant 
Features. 

Two trees are proposed to be removed from the location where the 
accessory dwelling unit will be built. Trees with a diameter at breast 
height of 8 inches or greater are protected natural resources by the city 
of Franklin. The trees’ removal will require compensation according 
to Table 15-7-03 of the Unified Development Ordinance. As a result, 
the applicant will need to complete a Natural Resource Protection Plan 
and Compensation Plan in addition to this Conditional Use request. 
Please see the Site Compliance section for an image of the trees 
proposed to be removed. 
 

7. Compliance with 
Standards. 

Review for Compliance with Attached Accessory Dwelling Unit 
Standards Below: 
 

1. Complies; Only one ADU is proposed for the lot 
2. Complies; No detached garage is present 
3. In progress; Conditional Use permit required, application under 

review 
4. Complies; Proposed ADU located behind attached garage 
5. Complies; Proposed ADU square footage complies with the 

maximum allowed 
6. Complies; Height does not exceed principal dwelling 



 3 

Summary of 
Standard 

Staff’s Finding 

7. Does not apply 
8. Complies; Proposed side and rear setback exceed the minimum 
9. Complies; See above 
10. Complies; Driveway serves both dwellings 
11. Complies; See proposed elevations 
12. Complies; Owner intends to live in the ADU 

  
Site Compliance: 
 
A non-conforming concrete parking pad exists on the property. The parking pad is closer than 
the 5 foot minimum setback for driveways and parking pads. Planning staff recommend that 
bringing the parking pad into compliance with the Unified Development Standards Section 15-
05-02, Driveways, be included as a condition of the permit. The property owner has expressed 
willingness to cut the parking pad to meet the setback requirement. There are also two accessory 
structures, including a tent structure, being used for storage located within the footprint of the 
proposed accessory dwelling unit. Staff believe that proposed garage expansion and accessory 
dwelling unit may help resolve this storage on the property. 
 
Trees to be removed, photo taken during site visit.  

 



 4 

Aerial view of parking pad, screenshot from Franklin Utility Viewer and 2024 aerial imagery. 

 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
The Department of City Development recommends approval of this Conditional Use request for 
an Attached Accessory Dwelling Unit, which is a Conditional Use in the R-SR: Suburban 
Residence District, subject to the following conditions as listed on the Draft Resolution: 
 

- A Natural Resources Protection Plan and a Compensation Plan to address the removal of 
two large trees on the property shall be submitted to the Department of City Development 



 5 

for review. Approval of these plans shall be required before building permits may be 
issued for the accessory dwelling unit. 

- The existing non-conforming concrete parking pad shall be brought into compliance with 
the 5 foot minimum setback requirement as set forth in Unified Development Ordinance 
§15-5-02. This alteration shall be required before building permits may be issued for the 
accessory dwelling unit. 

 
 



 

STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
               

RESOLUTION NO. 2026-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS  
FOR THE APPROVAL OF A CONDITIONAL USE FOR AN ATTACHED ACCESSORY 

DWELLING UNIT UPON PROPERTY LOCATED  
AT 8866 W. PUETZ ROAD (TAX KEY NO. 839 9997 009, BENJAMIN BLOMQUIST, 

PROPERTY OWNER AND APPLICANT)  
              
 
 WHEREAS, BENJAMIN BLOMQUIST, having petitioned the City of Franklin for the 
approval of a Conditional Use within the R-SR Suburban Residence District under Accessory 
Use Titles “Attached Accessory Dwelling Unit”, to construct an accessory dwelling for use by 
the property owner, at 8866 W. Puetz Road, bearing Tax Key No. 839 9997 009, more 
particularly described as follows: 
 

LOT 2 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 5910, BEING A 
REDIVISION OF LOT 3 OF CERTTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 5122, 
BEING A PART OF THE SOUTHWEST ¼ OF THE SOUTHWEST ¼ 
OF SECTION 16, TOWN 5 NORTH, RANGE 21 EAST, IN THE CITY 
OF FRANKLIN, MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN. 

 
 WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of the City 
of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15-9-06E. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been held before the Plan Commission on 
the 19th day of February, 2026, and the Plan Commission thereafter having determined to 
recommend that the proposed Conditional Use be approved, subject to certain conditions, and the 
Plan Commission further finding that the proposed Conditional Use upon such conditions, 
pursuant to §15-9-06H of the Unified Development Ordinance, will be in harmony with the 
purposes of the Unified Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive Master Plan; that it will 
not have an undue adverse impact upon adjoining property; that it will not interfere with the 
development of neighboring property; that it will be served adequately by essential public 
facilities and services; that it will not cause undue traffic congestion; and that it will not result in 
damage to property of significant importance to nature, history or the like; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Common Council having received such Plan Commission 
recommendation and also having found that the proposed Conditional Use, subject to conditions, 
meets the standards set forth under §15-9-06H of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of the 
City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Benjamin Blomquist, for the approval of a 
Conditional Use for the property particularly described in the preamble to this Resolution, be and 
the same is hereby approved, subject to the following conditions and restrictions: 

 



BLOMQUIST ATTACHED ADU – CONDITIONAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2026-_____ 
Page 2 
 

1. That this Conditional Use is approved only for the use of the subject property by 
Benjamin Blomquist, successors and assigns, as an attached accessory dwelling unit, 
which shall be developed in substantial compliance with, and operated and maintained by 
Benjamin Blomquist, pursuant to the application materials City file-stamped December 
11, 2025. 

2. Benjamin Blomquist, successors and assigns, shall pay to the City of Franklin the amount 
of all development compliance, inspection and review fees incurred by the City of 
Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for the Blomquist attached 
accessory dwelling unit, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this 
provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-
9-14 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general penalties and remedies 
provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon Benjamin Blomquist and the 
attached accessory dwelling unit use located at 8866 W. Puetz Road: (i) being in 
compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and 
ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the 
like, required for and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented for this 
approval. 

4. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the approval of a Natural Resource 
Protection Plan and Compensation Plan to address removal of two trees on the property 
to build the subject attached accessory dwelling unit, as set forth under §15-7-03 of the 
Unified Development Ordinance. The applicant shall submit these plans to the 
Department of City Development for review. Approval of the aforementioned plans shall 
be required prior to the issuance of any building permits for the attached accessory 
dwelling unit. 

5. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the existing non-conforming concrete 
parking pad on the property being brought into compliance with Unified Development 
Ordinance §15-5-02, which requires that parking pads and driveways have a minimum 5 
foot setback from side property lines. The parking pad setback shall be conforming prior 
to the issuance of any building permit for the attached accessory dwelling unit. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Benjamin Blomquist, successors or 
assigns, or any owner of the subject property, does not comply with one or any of the conditions 
and restrictions of this Conditional Use Resolution, following a ten (10) day notice to cure, and 
failure to comply within such time period, the Common Council, upon notice and hearing, may 
revoke the Conditional Use permission granted under this Resolution. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or restriction of 
this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a violation of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9-14 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the 
penalty for such violation shall be a forfeiture of no more than $2,500.00, or such other 
maximum amount and together with such other costs and terms as may be specified therein from 



BLOMQUIST ATTACHED ADU – CONDITIONAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2026-_____ 
Page 3 
 
time to time.  Each day that such violation continues shall be a separate violation.  Failure of the 
City to enforce any such violation shall not be a waiver of that or any other violation. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such 
Conditional Use Permit as is contemplated by §15-9-06 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, pursuant to §15-9-06J. of the Unified Development 
Ordinance, that the Conditional Use permission granted under this Resolution shall be null and 
void upon the expiration of two years from the date of adoption of this Resolution, unless the 
Conditional Use has been established by way of the issuance of an occupancy permit for such 
use. 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to obtain the 
recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the Register of Deeds for 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 
  
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 3rd 
day of March, 2026. 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin 
this 3rd day of March, 2026. 
 

APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________       
Shirley J. Roberts, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



R-SR

R-SR
R-MF

R-SR

R-SR

R-SRR-SR

R-SR R-SR

R-SR

R-SR

229.62'

119.60'

229.62'

15
0.
02

119.60'

12
5.
00
'

15
0.
02

18
1.
50
'

100.00'129.99'

8

O
L
4

15
5.
00
'

100.00'100.00'
15
0.
00
'

110.02'

12
5.
00
'

100.00'

129.99'

29.99'

15
0.
00
'

110.02'

100.00'

15
0.
00
'

15
0.
02

15
5.
00
'

29.99'

94.73'110.00'

7

15
5.
00
'

15
0.
00
'

15
5.
00
'

110.00'

110.00'

<

15
2.
21
'

15
0.
00
'

104.64'

>

15
5.
00
'

21
7.
80
'

15
5.
00
'

PUETZ RD

TRAVIS LN

PUETZ RD

89
T
H

S
T

TRAVIS LN

PUETZ RD

8877
8869

8806

8633 8855

8900
8866

8924 8920

City of Franklin Property Viewer

SE Wisc Reg Planning Comm, SEWRPC, Microsoft, Vantor

Parcel

2/11/2026, 3:29:49 PM
0 0.01 0.020.01 mi

0 0.02 0.040.01 km

1:1,128

Guest

Earthstar Geographics | City of Franklin, WI |



1 

     
 

 

City of Franklin 
Department of City Development 

 

 

 

Date: January 20, 2025 
To: Joe Malkowski 
From: Department of City Development. Rose Melton, Assistant Planner 
RE: Staff Comments, 8866 W. Puetz Rd / 839 9997 009 
 
 
Please be advised that city staff has reviewed the above application received on December 
11, 2025, for a proposed Conditional Use for an Attached Accessory Dwelling Unit on the 
property located at 8866 W. Puetz Rd / 839 9997 009. The following comments are for your 
review and consideration. 

Planning Department 

Please provide general comments for General Standards for Conditional Uses 5 and 6. The 
comments should elaborate on why the proposal is not in conflict with the standards. 

Bringing the existing concrete pad into compliance with the required 5-foot setback for 
driveways/parking pads may be included as a condition of the approval.  

Inspection Services Department 

Project will require separate Building, HVAC, Plumbing and Electrical Permits. 

Engineering Department 

Is the existing concrete on the west side of the garage being removed for the walkway?? 

Is it being replaced with the grass seed?? 

If is not intended to be removed the side yard setback should apply or the 5’ from the property 
for any driveway should apply. 



8866 W. Puetz Road Legal Description: 
 
LOT 2 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 5910, BEING A REDIVISION OF LOT 3 OF 
CERTTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 5122, BEING A PART OF THE SOUTHWEST ¼ OF THE 
SOUTHWEST ¼ OF SECTION 16, TOWN 5 NORTH, RANGE 21 EAST, IN THE CITY OF 
FRANKLIN, MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN. 



Conditional Use Project Narrative 
 
RE: 8866 W. Puetz Road 
 
This Conditional Use Application is for an attached Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) to an existing 
single family home.  This has been the primary residence for Ben Blomquist, the property 
owner, since 1994.  Ben and his wife raised two children in the home and now have three 
grandchildren.  Ben is a self-employed Master Plumber, with his own plumbing contractor 
business, Flowrite Plumbing.  As a recent widower, Ben would like to be able to accommodate 
living quarters for himself, and his children and grandchildren, while at the same time providing 
both parties with relative privacy.  Ben is intending on living in the ADU.   
 
The proposed ADU will be located behind a proposed attached, 2-car garage.  The existing 
attached 2-car garage will be demolished for the proposed garage and ADU.  The proposed 
ADU will not be visible from the street (Puetz Road), and will have cladding and fenestration that 
matches the existing house.  The ADU will be a single story (approx. 795 sq. ft.), with 1 
bedroom, 1 bathroom, and a full basement.  If approved, Ben anticipates starting construction in 
the spring of 2026. 



 
 
Planning Department 
9229 West Loomis Road 
Franklin, Wisconsin  53132 

Rev 11/2025  Page | 1  

☎ (414) 425-4024    
✉generalplanning@franklinwi.gov  

Standards for Conditional Uses 
Date:  
Property Owner:  
Property Address:  
 
 

SECTION 15-9-06.H GENERAL STANDARDS FOR CONDITIONAL USES 
 
General Standards. No special use permit shall be recommended or granted pursuant to this Ordinance 
unless the applicant shall establish the following: 
 

1. Ordinance and Comprehensive Master Plan Purposes and Intent. The proposed use and development 
will be in harmony with the general and specific purposes for which this UDO was enacted and for which 
the regulations of the zoning district in question were established and with the general purpose and 
intent of the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan or element thereof. 

Response:   
 
 
 
 
 

2. No Undue Adverse Impact. The proposed use and development will not have a substantial or undue 
adverse or detrimental effect upon or endanger adjacent property, the character of the area, or the public 
health, safety, morals, comfort, and general welfare and not substantially diminish and impair property 
values within the community or neighborhood. 

Response: 
 
 
 
 
 

3. Compatibility with Surrounding Development. The proposed use and development will be constructed, 
arranged, and operated so as not to dominate the immediate vicinity or to interfere with the use and 
development of neighboring property in accordance with the applicable zoning district regulations. 

Response: 
 
 
 
 

https://ecode360.com/47151228
https://www.franklinwi.gov/Departments/Planning.htm


Rev 11/2025 Page | 2 

4. Adequate Public Facilities. The proposed use and development will be served adequately by essential
public facilities and services such as streets, public utilities including public water supply system and
sanitary sewer, police and fire protection, refuse disposal, public parks, libraries, schools, and other
public facilities and utilities or the applicant will provide adequately for such facilities.

Response:

5. Adequate Circulation. The proposed use and development will not cause undue traffic congestion nor
draw significant amounts of traffic through residential streets. Adequate measures will be taken to
provide ingress and egress so designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.

Response:

6. No Destruction of Significant Features. The proposed use and development will not result in the
destruction, loss, or damage of any natural, scenic, or historic feature of significant importance. This
criterion shall be deemed to have been met with respect to natural features upon approval by the Plan
Commission of a Natural Resource Protection Plan for the proposed use.

Response:



©
 2

02
5 

 J
M

 D
ES

IG
N

 S
TU

D
IO

 L
LC

AL
L 

R
IG

H
TS

 R
ES

ER
VE

D

SC
A

LE
: 1

/4
"=

1'
-0

"
JM

 D
ES

IG
N

 S
TU

D
IO

 L
LC

40
59

 S
 5

4t
h 

St
re

et
., 

 M
ilw

au
ke

e,
  W

I  
53

22
0

Ph
on

e:
 (6

08
) 5

16
-7

30
7 

   
Em

ai
l: 

jm
ds

t@
ya

ho
o.

co
m

PR
O

JE
C

T 
#2

52
7

BE
N

 B
LO

M
Q

U
IS

T

88
66

 W
. P

U
ET

Z 
RO

A
D

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I 5

31
32

PR
O

PO
SE

D
C

O
N

C
EP

T 
SI

TE
 P

LA
N

PR
O

JE
C

T:
O

W
N

ER
:

D
ES

IG
N

ER
:

D
A

TE
: 1

.2
6.

26

88
66

 W
. P

U
ET

Z 
RO

A
D

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I 5

31
32

PL
A

N
 C

O
M

M
IS

SI
O

N
 R

EV
IE

W
 S

ET
 1

/2
6/

26

= STANDARD SILT FENCE FOR
   EROSION CONTROL; STAKES
   AND FABRIC FENCE 

C1.1

12.47'

12.47'

EXISTING CONCRETE 
DRIVEWAY

PROPOSED ATTACHED
2-CAR GARAGE
(902 SQ. FT.)

PROPOSED ACCESSORY
DWELLING UNIT
(795 SQ. FT.)

EXISTING SINGLE FAMILY HOME
(1,408 SQ. FT.)

IMPERVIOUS AREAS SUMMARY:
EXISTING SINGLE FAMILY HOME= 1,408 SQ. FT.
EXISTING CONCRETE SIDEWALK/DRIVEWAY= 1,220 SQ. FT.
EXISTING CONCRETE PATIO=          338 SQ. FT.

PROPOSED GARAGE & ADU FOOTPRINT= 1,697 SQ. FT.
PROPOSED CONCRETE SIDEWALK/DRIVEWAY=    295 SQ. FT.
PROPOSED CONCRETE PATIO ADDITION=    160 SQ. FT.
TOTAL IMPERVIOUS AREA= 5,118 SQ. FT.

    (34% LOT AREA)

EXISTING 
CONCRETE 
PATIO

EXISTING CONCRETE  
SIDEWALK

TOTAL LOT AREA= 15,000 SQ. FT. (.34 ACRES)

PROPOSED CONCEPT SITE PLAN 
SCALE: 1" = 10'1

N

28.0'

29
.3

3'

2.33'

33
.0

'

26.5'

35
.0

'

14.83'

42
.0

'

PROPOSED
CONCRETE

STOOP

PROPOSED
CONCRETE
SIDEWALK

PROPOSED
CONCRETE
DRIVEWAY

ADDITION

4'-0"3'-0"5'-6"

PROPOSED
CONCRETE
PATIO ADDITION

WINDOW WELLS
EROSION CONTROL

FENCE

AREA OF LAND DISTURBANCE
WITHIN THIS BOUNDARY
(APPROX. 4,417 SQ. FT.; .1 ACRES)

FILL STORAGE AREA

DISTURBED AREA TO BE
REPAIRED WITH GRASS SEED

25
.0

'

10.0'

REMOVE EXISTING
BRICK PAVERS

LA
W

N

LAWN

LAWN

M
U

LC
H



SC
A

LE
: 1

/4
"=

1'
-0

"
JM

 D
ES

IG
N

 S
TU

D
IO

 L
LC

40
59

 S
 5

4t
h 

St
re

et
., 

 M
ilw

au
ke

e,
  W

I  
53

22
0

Ph
on

e:
 (6

08
) 5

16
-7

30
7 

   
Em

ai
l: 

jm
ds

t@
ya

ho
o.

co
m

PR
O

JE
C

T 
#2

52
7

BE
N

 B
LO

M
Q

U
IS

T

88
66

 W
. P

U
ET

Z 
RO

A
D

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I 5

31
32

PR
O

PO
SE

D
FL

O
O

R
 P

LA
N

S

PR
O

JE
C

T:
O

W
N

ER
:

D
ES

IG
N

ER
:

D
A

TE
: 1

.2
6.

26

88
66

 W
. P

U
ET

Z 
RO

A
D

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I 5

31
32

PL
A

N
 C

O
M

M
IS

SI
O

N
 R

EV
IE

W
 S

ET
 1

/2
6/

26

©
 2

02
5 

 J
M

 D
ES

IG
N

 S
TU

D
IO

 L
LC

AL
L 

R
IG

H
TS

 R
ES

ER
VE

D

PRIMARY BEDROOM

PRIMARY
BATH

BEDROOM 2BEDROOM 3

BATH 2

LIVING ROOM

ENTRY

KITCHEN

DINETTE

HALL

NEW 2-CAR GARAGE

CONC. STOOP

NEW ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITKITCHEN

LIVING

BEDROOM

WALK-IN CLOSET

BATH

CLOSET

FOYER

C
O

N
C

R
ET

E 
SI

D
EW

A
LK

CONCRETE
STOOP

EXISTING CONCRETE PATIO

N
EW

 C
O

N
C

R
ET

E 
PA

TI
O

3'
-4

"

7'-1 3/8"

A1.1

29
'-4

"

DN
13R

48'-0"

REF.

PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN 
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"1

N

EXISTING HOUSE GROSS AREA= 1,408 SQ. FT.
NEW GARAGE GROSS AREA=  902 SQ. FT.

TOTAL GROSS AREA= 3,105 SQ. FT.

= EXISTING WALLS TO REMAIN

= NEW WALLS

LEGEND:

29
'-4

"
33

'-0
"

62
'-4

"

(902 SQ. FT.)

2'-4"

(795 SQ. FT.)

26'-6"

18'-0"X8'-0" O.H. DOOR

NEW DWELLING GROSS AREA=  795 SQ. FT.

STAIRS DOWN
TO BASEMENT

NEW CONSTRUCTION

N
EW

 C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
TI

O
N

NEW CONSTRUCTION

EXISTING TO REMAIN

BUILDING AREAS:

35
'-0

"

N
EW

 C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
TI

O
N

47'-2"

76'-0"

EXISTING TO REMAIN

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 T

O
 R

EM
AI

N

5'
-0

"

DW

REF.

7'
-7

 1
/2

"
8'

-6
"

2'
-0

"
6"

4 
1/

2"
4 

1/
2"

4 
1/

2"
4 

1/
2"

W/D

16
/2

2
LI

N
EN

36/40
D.H.

24/48
D.H.

14
'-7

"
6'

-0
"

13
'-0

"

12'-0"13'-1 1/2"

(12'x13')
(9'x8')

(10'x8')

(15'x14')

(13'x5')

4 
1/

2"

6"

6"

4 1/2"

6"

SHOWER
36"X60"

ST
EP

STEP

28'-0"

2'
-0

"

36"

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 4

5 
M

IN
. F

IR
E 

R
AT

ED
 W

AL
L

6 
5/

8"

36"

36"

7'-0"

36"

36"

7'
-9

 7
/8

" 6 
5/

8"



SC
A

LE
: 1

/4
"=

1'
-0

"
JM

 D
ES

IG
N

 S
TU

D
IO

 L
LC

40
59

 S
 5

4t
h 

St
re

et
., 

 M
ilw

au
ke

e,
  W

I  
53

22
0

Ph
on

e:
 (6

08
) 5

16
-7

30
7 

   
Em

ai
l: 

jm
ds

t@
ya

ho
o.

co
m

PR
O

JE
C

T 
#2

52
7

BE
N

 B
LO

M
Q

U
IS

T

88
66

 W
. P

U
ET

Z 
RO

A
D

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I 5

31
32

PR
O

PO
SE

D
FL

O
O

R
 P

LA
N

S

PR
O

JE
C

T:
O

W
N

ER
:

D
ES

IG
N

ER
:

D
A

TE
: 1

.2
6.

26

88
66

 W
. P

U
ET

Z 
RO

A
D

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I 5

31
32

PL
A

N
 C

O
M

M
IS

SI
O

N
 R

EV
IE

W
 S

ET
 1

/2
6/

26

©
 2

02
5 

 J
M

 D
ES

IG
N

 S
TU

D
IO

 L
LC

AL
L 

R
IG

H
TS

 R
ES

ER
VE

D

2X
10

'S
AT

 1
6"

 O
.C

.
2X

10
'S

AT
 1

6"
 O

.C
.

F.D.

UP
14R

F.D.
W.H.

A1.2

FURN

W.H.

SUMP

UNEXCAVATED

BASEMENT

48'-0"

29
'-4

"

UNEXCAVATED

UP
13R

PROPOSED BASEMENT PLAN 
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"1

EXISTING BASEMENT GROSS AREA= 1,408 SQ. FT.
N

NEW BASEMENT

26'-6"

33
'-0

"
29

'-4
"

62
'-4

"

2'
-0

"

35
'-0

"

2'-4"

28'-10"

28'-0"

NEW CONSTRUCTION

EXISTING TO REMAIN

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 T

O
 R

EM
AI

N

N
EW

 C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
TI

O
N

NEW CONSTRUCTION

NEW BASEMENT GROSS AREA=  803 SQ. FT.

BUILDING AREAS:

TOTAL BASEMENT GROSS AREA= 2,211 SQ. FT.

(CEILING AT 9'-0")

EGRESS WINDOW WELL EGRESS WINDOW WELL

SUMP

2X10'S AT 16" O.C. 2X10'S AT 16" O.C.

42"
20 MIN.



©
 2

02
5 

 J
M

 D
ES

IG
N

 S
TU

D
IO

 L
LC

AL
L 

R
IG

H
TS

 R
ES

ER
VE

D

SC
A

LE
: 1

/4
"=

1'
-0

"
JM

 D
ES

IG
N

 S
TU

D
IO

 L
LC

40
59

 S
 5

4t
h 

St
re

et
., 

 M
ilw

au
ke

e,
  W

I  
53

22
0

Ph
on

e:
 (6

08
) 5

16
-7

30
7 

   
Em

ai
l: 

jm
ds

t@
ya

ho
o.

co
m

PR
O

JE
C

T 
#2

52
7

BE
N

 B
LO

M
Q

U
IS

T

88
66

 W
. P

U
ET

Z 
RO

A
D

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I 5

31
32

PR
O

PO
SE

D
EL

EV
A

TI
O

N
S

PR
O
JE

C
T:

O
W
N
ER

:
D
ES

IG
N
ER

:

D
A

TE
: 1

.2
6.

26

88
66

 W
. P

U
ET

Z 
RO

A
D

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I 5

31
32

PL
A

N
 C

O
M

M
IS

SI
O

N
 R

EV
IE

W
 S

ET
 1

/2
6/

26

PROPOSED SIDE (WEST) ELEVATION 
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"2

FIRST FLOOR

8'
-1

 1
/8

"

ROOF BEARING PT.

BASEMENT

8'
-3

 1
/8

"

PROPOSED FRONT (SOUTH) ELEVATION 
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"1

GRADE

FIRST FLOOR

8'
-1

 1
/8

"

ROOF BEARING PT.

PROPOSED
BASEMENT

9'
-8

 1
/2

"

GRADE

A2.1

GRADE

NEW OVERFRAMED
ROOF

NEW CONSTRUCTION EXISTING TO REMAIN

INSULATED METAL
OVERHEAD DOOR

COMPOSITE SIDING
TO MATCH EXISTING

(6" PROFILE)

NEW OVERFRAMED
ROOF

ASPHALT SHINGLES
TO MATCH EXISTING

1'-0"

NEW GARAGE HEIGHT
TO MATCH EXISTING

HOUSE

DRIVEWAY

1'-0"
2'-0"

2'-0"

COMPOSITE 10" FASCIA
BOARD TO MATCH
EXISTING HOUSE

COMPOSITE SHAKE
SIDING

5/4X6 COMPOSITE
TRIM

INSULATED METAL
DOOR

COMPOSITE SHAKE
SIDING

5/4X6 COMPOSITE
TRIM

ASPHALT SHINGLES
TO MATCH EXISTING

5/4X6 COMPOSITE
TRIM

COMPOSITE SIDING
TO MATCH EXISTING

(6" PROFILE)

COMPOSITE 10" FASCIA
BOARD TO MATCH
EXISTING HOUSE

COMPOSITE SIDING
TO MATCH EXISTING

(6" PROFILE)

WINDOW
WELL

1'-0"

METAL FLASHING

±1
4'

-9
 7

/8
"

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 H

EI
G

H
T

DECORATIVE WALL
SCONCE EACH SIDE
OF OVERHEAD DOOR

DECORATIVE
WALL SCONCE



©
 2

02
5 

 J
M

 D
ES

IG
N

 S
TU

D
IO

 L
LC

AL
L 

R
IG

H
TS

 R
ES

ER
VE

D

SC
A

LE
: 1

/4
"=

1'
-0

"
JM

 D
ES

IG
N

 S
TU

D
IO

 L
LC

40
59

 S
 5

4t
h 

St
re

et
., 

 M
ilw

au
ke

e,
  W

I  
53

22
0

Ph
on

e:
 (6

08
) 5

16
-7

30
7 

   
Em

ai
l: 

jm
ds

t@
ya

ho
o.

co
m

PR
O

JE
C

T 
#2

52
7

BE
N

 B
LO

M
Q

U
IS

T

88
66

 W
. P

U
ET

Z 
RO

A
D

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I 5

31
32

PR
O

PO
SE

D
EL

EV
A

TI
O

N
S

PR
O
JE

C
T:

O
W
N
ER

:
D
ES

IG
N
ER

:

D
A

TE
: 1

.2
6.

26

88
66

 W
. P

U
ET

Z 
RO

A
D

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I 5

31
32

PL
A

N
 C

O
M

M
IS

SI
O

N
 R

EV
IE

W
 S

ET
 1

/2
6/

26

FIRST FLOOR
8'

-1
 1

/8
"

ROOF BEARING PT.

BASEMENT

8'
-3

 1
/8

"

PROPOSED REAR (NORTH) ELEVATION 
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"1

FIRST FLOOR

8'
-1

 1
/8

"

ROOF BEARING PT.

BASEMENT

8'
-3

 1
/8

"

PROPOSED (EAST) ELEVATION 
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"2

FIRST FLOOR

8'
-1

 1
/8

"

ROOF BEARING PT.

PROPOSED
BASEMENT

9'
-8

 1
/2

"

FIRST FLOOR

8'
-1

 1
/8

"

ROOF BEARING PT.

PROPOSED
BASEMENT

9'
-8

 1
/2

"

A2.2

GRADE

GRADE
GRADE

12
4

NEW CONSTRUCTIONEXISTING TO REMAIN

NEW OVERFRAMED
ROOF

EXISTING TO REMAIN NEW CONSTRUCTION

1'-0"

WINDOW WELLS

1'-0"2'-0"

COMPOSITE SIDING
TO MATCH EXISTING

(6" PROFILE)

COMPOSITE 10" FASCIA
BOARD TO MATCH
EXISTING HOUSE

COMPOSITE SHAKE
SIDING

5/4X6 COMPOSITE
TRIM

CONCRETE
STOOP

5/4X6 COMPOSITE
TRIM

2'-0"

ASPHALT SHINGLES
TO MATCH EXISTING

WINDOW
WELL

CONCRETE STEP

CONCRETE STEP

5/4X6 COMPOSITE
TRIM

COMPOSITE SIDING
TO MATCH EXISTING
(6" PROFILE)

±1
4'

-5
 7

/8
"

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 H

EI
G

H
T

DECORATIVE
WALL SCONCE



C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N       
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 
Meeting of February 19, 2026 

 

Special Use Amendment 

1 
 

C.3. 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends approval of the applications for a Special Use 
Amendment. Recommended Conditions of Approval are provided in the draft Resolution(s). 

Project Name: Krones PDD 39 SU Amendment 
Property Owner: Franklin Industrial I, LLC 
Applicant: Joe Wisniewski, Krones 
Property Address/Tax Key Number: 3617 W Oakwood Rd.  / 950-9001-000,  
Aldermanic District: District 4 
Agent: Joe Wisniewski, Krones 
Zoning District: PDL 39 
Use of Surrounding Properties: PDL 39 (West and South) 
 P Park (North and East)  
Application Request: Special (Conditional) Use Amendment 
Staff Planner: Marion Ecks, AICP 
 
 
This application is a request to amend an existing Special Use for the building located at 3617 W 
Oakwood Rd., which allows for overnight truck parking. The new request is to allow for 
warehouse, distribution and storage uses within the building.  These use classes require “Special 
Use” approval in the Planned Development - Legacy (PDL) 39 zoning district. The proposed 
amendment to RES 2021-7722 will allow for such uses throughout the entire building of 3617.  
The applicant may propose to sublease to other companies; tenants would then be eligible for this 
type of use with a simple zoning compliance approval.   
 
The applicants received approval of a Minor Site Plan Amendment (an administrative review) in 
January to allow for the addition of nine (9) fire access doors to comply with Building Code 
requirements.  The structure continues to comply with the requirements of the PDL and Unified 
Development Ordinance (UDO). The applicant is not proposing any additional site changes with 
this amendment, and will therefore not impact natural resources or require alterations to 
infrastructure. Primary hours of operation will occur between 8:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., with limited 
operations during second and third shifts.  
 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of the applications for a Special Use Amendment. Recommended 
Conditions of Approval are provided in the draft Resolution(s). 
 
Exhibits: 
 
• Applicant Exhibits  



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
[Draft 02-10-2026]  

RESOLUTION NO. 2026-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION TO AMEND RESOLUTION NO. 2021-7722 IMPOSING CONDITIONS 
AND RESTRICTIONS FOR THE APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE FOR OVERNIGHT 
PARKING FOR VEHICLES EXCEEDING 8,000 POUNDS MANUFACTURED GROSS 

VEHICLE WEIGHT, TO ALLOW FOR WAREHOUSE, DISTRIBUTION AND 
STORAGE USES UPON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 3617 WEST OAKWOOD ROAD 

 (JOE WISNIEWSKI, KRONES, INC., APPLICANT,  
FRANKLIN INDUSTRIAL I, LLC, PROPERTY OWNER) 

              
 
 WHEREAS, Joe Wisniewski, representative of Krones, Inc. having petitioned the City of 
Franklin for the approval of an amendment to Resolution No. 2021-7722 of a Special Use within 
Planned Development District No. 39 (Mixed Use Business Park), to allow for warehouse, 
distribution and storage uses (which requires Special Use approval per Section 15-
3.0444B.D.1.a.iii.), upon property located at 3617 West Oakwood Road.  The property which 
is the subject of the application bears Tax Key No. 950 9001 000, and is more particularly 
described as follows: 
 

CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 9530, NW ¼ SEC 36-5-21, LOT 1; and 
 
 WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of the 
City of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15-9-06.E. of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been held before the Plan 
Commission on the 19th day of February, 2026, and the Plan Commission thereafter having 
determined to recommend that the proposed Special Use be approved, subject to certain 
conditions, and the Plan Commission further finding that the proposed Special Use upon 
such conditions, pursuant to §15-9-06.H. and §15-4-09.D. of the Unified Development 
Ordinance, will be in harmony with the purposes of the Unified Development Ordinance and 
the Comprehensive Master Plan; that it will not have an undue adverse impact upon 
adjoining property; that it will not interfere with the development of neighboring property; 
that it will be served adequately by essential public facilities and services; that it will not 
cause undue traffic congestion; and that it will not result in damage to property of significant 
importance to nature, history or the like; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Common Council having found that the proposed Special Use, 
subject to conditions, meets the standards set forth under §15-9-06.H. and §15-4-09.D. of the 
Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Krones, Inc., for the approval of a Special 
Use for the property particularly described in the preamble to this Resolution, be and the 
same is hereby approved, subject to the following conditions and restrictions: 



KRONES, INC. – Special Use Amendment 
RESOLUTION NO. 2026-_____ 
Page 2 
 
 

1. That this Special Use is approved only for the use of the subject property by 
Krones, Inc, successors and assigns, for warehouse, distribution and storage uses, 
which shall be operated and maintained by Krones, Inc, pursuant to those plans 
City file-stamped February 9th, 2026 and annexed hereto and incorporated herein 
as Exhibit A. 

2. Krones, Inc, successors and assigns, shall pay to the City of Franklin the amount 
of all development compliance, inspection and review fees incurred by the City of 
Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for the Krones, Inc. 
Special Use amendment, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this 
provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, and subject 
to §15-9-14 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general penalties and 
remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the Krones, Inc overnight 
parking for warehouse, distribution and storage uses Special Use Amendment for 
the property located at 3617 West Oakwood Road:  (i) being in compliance with 
all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and ordinances; 
and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the like, 
required for and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented for this 
approval. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Krones, Inc., successors or assigns, 
or any owner of the subject property, does not comply with one or any of the conditions and 
restrictions of this Special Use Resolution, following a ten (10) day notice to cure, and 
failure to comply within such time period, the Common Council, upon notice and hearing, 
may revoke the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or 
restriction of this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a violation of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9-14 thereof and §1-19. of the 
Municipal Code, the penalty for such violation shall be forfeiture of no more than $2,500.00, 
or such other maximum amount and together with such other costs and terms as may be 
specified therein from time to time. Each day that such violation continues shall be a separate 
violation. Failure of the City to enforce any such violation shall not be a waiver of that or any 
other violation. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such 
Special Use Permit as is contemplated by §15-9-06 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, Pursuant to §15-9-06.J. of the Unified Development 
Ordinance, the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution shall be null and void 
upon the expiration of two years from the date of adoption of this Resolution, unless the 
Special Use has been established by way of the issuance of building permits. 



KRONES, INC. – Special Use Amendment 
RESOLUTION NO. 2026-_____ 
Page 3 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to obtain 
the recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the Register of Deeds for 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 
  

Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
_______day of ____________________, 2026. 

 
Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin 

this _______ day of ____________________, 2026. 
 
 
 
 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Shirley Roberts, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 
 



FP

R-SE

R-SER-SE R-SE

R-SER-SE

P

R-SE

R-SE

FP

R-SE

R-SE
R-SE

PDL 39

PDL 39

PDL 39

PDL 39

PDL 39

PDL 39

PDL 39

B-MU

PDL 39

PDL 39

PDL 39

OAKWOOD RD

34
T
H
S
T

OAKWOOD RD

34
T
H
S
T

H
IC
K
O
R
Y
S
T

4

City of Franklin Property Viewer

SE Wisc Reg Planning Comm, SEWRPC, Vantor

Aldermanic District

Parcel

1/29/2026, 9:56:22 AM
0 0.1 0.20.05 mi

0 0.15 0.30.07 km

1:8,205

Guest

Earthstar Geographics | City of Franklin, WI |



Legal Descrip�on of 3617 W Oakwood Road, Franklin, WI 

CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 9530, NW ¼ SEC 36-5-21, LOT 1 



 
 
Planning Department 
9229 West Loomis Road 
Franklin, Wisconsin  53132 

Rev 11/2025  Page | 1  

☎ (414) 425-4024    
✉generalplanning@franklinwi.gov  

Standards for Conditional Uses 
Date:  
Property Owner:  
Property Address:  
 
 

SECTION 15-9-06.H GENERAL STANDARDS FOR CONDITIONAL USES 
 
General Standards. No special use permit shall be recommended or granted pursuant to this Ordinance 
unless the applicant shall establish the following: 
 

1. Ordinance and Comprehensive Master Plan Purposes and Intent. The proposed use and development 
will be in harmony with the general and specific purposes for which this UDO was enacted and for which 
the regulations of the zoning district in question were established and with the general purpose and 
intent of the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan or element thereof. 

Response:   
 
 
 
 
 

2. No Undue Adverse Impact. The proposed use and development will not have a substantial or undue 
adverse or detrimental effect upon or endanger adjacent property, the character of the area, or the public 
health, safety, morals, comfort, and general welfare and not substantially diminish and impair property 
values within the community or neighborhood. 

Response: 
 
 
 
 
 

3. Compatibility with Surrounding Development. The proposed use and development will be constructed, 
arranged, and operated so as not to dominate the immediate vicinity or to interfere with the use and 
development of neighboring property in accordance with the applicable zoning district regulations. 

Response: 
 
 
 
 

https://ecode360.com/47151228
https://www.franklinwi.gov/Departments/Planning.htm


 
 

Rev 11/2025  Page | 2  

 

4. Adequate Public Facilities. The proposed use and development will be served adequately by essential 
public facilities and services such as streets, public utilities including public water supply system and 
sanitary sewer, police and fire protection, refuse disposal, public parks, libraries, schools, and other 
public facilities and utilities or the applicant will provide adequately for such facilities. 

Response: 
 
 
 
 
 

5. Adequate Circulation. The proposed use and development will not cause undue traffic congestion nor 
draw significant amounts of traffic through residential streets. Adequate measures will be taken to 
provide ingress and egress so designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 

Response: 
 
 
 
 
 

6. Ordinance and Comprehensive Master Plan Purposes and Intent. The proposed use and development 
will be in harmony with the general and specific purposes for which this UDO was enacted and for which 
the regulations of the zoning district in question were established and with the general purpose and 
intent of the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan or element thereof. 

Response: 
 
 
 
 
 

7. No Destruction of Significant Features. The proposed use and development will not result in the 
destruction, loss, or damage of any natural, scenic, or historic feature of significant importance. This 
criterion shall be deemed to have been met with respect to natural features upon approval by the Plan 
Commission of a Natural Resource Protection Plan for the proposed use.  

Response: 
 
 



 

 
 

Project Narrative - Conditional Use Amendment 

11/18/2025 

 

From:  Stephen Perry Smith Architects 

Regarding: Krones Inc. Logistics Center (Oakwood Industrial 1) 

3617 W Oakwood Rd, Franklin, WI 53132 

 

Narrative: 

 

The Krones tenant improvement project is a 33,125 s.f. build-out of an existing and 

previously approved 236,180 s.f. industrial building located at 3617 W. Oakwood Rd. in Franklin, 

Wisconsin. This property is currently zoned in PDL-39 and was originally approved as a 

Manufacturing use. The current tenant improvement plans intend to use this space for crating 

and warehousing. 

The tenant is seeking approval for a Conditional Use Amendment to change this space 

from the previously approved Manufacturing to a Warehousing use. To demonstrate 

compliance, Krones has provided updated operational details and information in the attached 

‘Standards for Conditional Uses’ document. Please reach out with any questions or requests for 

further information.  













 

#DateComments

Checked By:

R
e

v
is

io
n

s

Date:6/18/2021

Drawn By: Nick Harms

Oakwood Industrial
     Building SiteScale: 1 inch= 44 Ft.

E
X
T
E
R
I
O
R

O
W

4
N

.A
.

0
.9

5
0

R
S

X
2

 L
E

D
 P

6
 4

0
K

 R
4

 M
V

O
L

T
 W

B
A

L
IT

H
O

N
IA

2
4

4
3

0
6

6
2

C
a

lc
u

la
ti
o

n
 S

u
m

m
a

ry
L

a
b

e
l

L
u

m
in

a
ir

e
 S

c
h

e
d

u
le

Q
ty

L
a

b
e

l
T

o
ta

l 
L

a
m

p
 L

u
m

e
n

s
L

L
F

D
e

s
c
ri

p
ti
o

n

A
v
g

M
a

x
M

in

T
a

g
L

u
m

. 
W

a
tt

s
L

u
m

. 
L

u
m

e
n

s
5

O
A

4
N

.A
.

A
v
g

/M
in

M
a

x
/M

in
O

a
k
w

o
o

d
 I

n
d

 B
ld

g
 P

a
rk

in
g

 A
re

a
s

0
.9

5
0

R
S

X
2

 L
E

D
 P

6
 4

0
K

 R
4

 M
V

O
L

T
 X

P
A

 (
fi
n

is
h

) 
+

2
5

' 
P

O
L

E
+

3
' 
B

A
S

E
L

IT
H

O
N

IA

2
.0

4
8

.5
7

0
.2

0
1

0
.2

0
4

2
.8

5
D

o
c
k
in

g
 A

re
a

3
.9

4
8

.6

2
4

4
3

0
6

6
2

1
7

2
.2

1
.7

9
3

.9
1

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

3
2

F
T

 C
L

E
A

R
 H

E
IG

H
T

+
/-

 2
3

6
,1

8
0

 S
F

F
.F

.E
. 
=

 7
1

4
'

F
U

T
U

R
E

 S
O

U
T

H
 H

IC
K

O
R

Y
 S

T
R

E
E

T

WEST OAKWOOD ROAD

M
H
:
 
2
8

O
W
4

M
H
:
 
2
8

O
W
4

O
W
4

M
H
:
 
2
8

M
H
:
 
2
8

O
A
4

M
H
:
 
2
8

O
A
4

O
A
4

M
H
:
 
2
8

M
H
:
 
2
8

O
A
4

O
W

4

M
H

: 
2
8

O
W

4

M
H

: 
2
8

M
H

: 
2
8

O
W

4
O

W
4

M
H

: 
2
8

M
H

: 
2
8

O
W

4

M
H

: 
2
8

O
W

4

M
H

: 
2
8

O
W

4
O

W
4

M
H

: 
2
8

O
W

4

M
H

: 
2
8

O
W

4

M
H

: 
2
8

O
W

4

M
H

: 
2
8

M
H

: 
2
8

O
W

4

M
H

: 
2
8

O
W

4

M
H

: 
2
8

O
W

4

O
A
4

M
H
:
 
2
8

0
.
2
0

0
.
2
9

0
.
4
2

0
.
5
6

0
.
6
8

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
6

0
.
6
9

0
.
7
1

0
.
6
7

0
.
6
9

0
.
7
1

0
.
6
5

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
5

0
.
6
9

0
.
7
1

0
.
7
2

0
.
7
0

0
.
6
7

0
.
6
8

0
.
7
1

0
.
7
0

0
.
6
9

0
.
6
6

0
.
6
8

0
.
7
0

0
.
7
1

0
.
7
1

0
.
6
8

0
.
6
7

0
.
7
0

0
.
7
0

0
.
6
9

0
.
6
7

0
.
6
3

0
.
6
1

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
3

0
.
6
7

0
.
7
2

0
.
6
8

0
.
6
7

0
.
6
9

0
.
6
8

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
3

0
.
6
6

0
.
6
9

0
.
2
7

0
.
3
9

0
.
5
8

0
.
8
1

0
.
9
4

0
.
8
4

0
.
7
6

0
.
7
3

0
.
7
7

0
.
8
6

0
.
9
6

1
.
0
4

1
.
0
9

1
.
0
6

1
.
0
8

1
.
0
9

1
.
0
4

0
.
8
6

0
.
7
8

0
.
7
3

0
.
7
6

0
.
8
4

0
.
9
4

1
.
0
2

1
.
0
9

1
.
1
0

1
.
0
6

1
.
0
7

1
.
0
9

1
.
0
5

0
.
9
8

0
.
8
9

0
.
9
2

1
.
0
0

1
.
0
8

1
.
1
0

1
.
0
7

1
.
0
6

1
.
0
9

1
.
0
7

1
.
0
0

0
.
9
1

0
.
8
2

0
.
7
5

0
.
7
4

0
.
8
0

0
.
8
9

1
.
0
6

1
.
1
0

1
.
0
7

1
.
0
5

1
.
0
2

0
.
9
4

0
.
8
4

0
.
7
6

0
.
7
3

0
.
7
8

0
.
8
7

0
.
9
7

0
.
4
0

0
.
5
8

0
.
8
5

1
.
1
5

1
.
4
6

1
.
7
1

1
.
8
5

1
.
8
7

1
.
6
9

1
.
7
0

1
.
6
6

1
.
5
3

1
.
3
5

1
.
1
9

1
.
0
3

0
.
9
0

0
.
8
6

0
.
9
1

1
.
0
6

1
.
2
2

1
.
3
8

1
.
5
5

1
.
6
8

1
.
7
0

1
.
6
9

1
.
5
7

1
.
3
9

1
.
2
3

1
.
0
7

0
.
9
2

0
.
8
6

0
.
8
9

1
.
0
2

1
.
1
8

1
.
3
4

1
.
5
3

1
.
6
6

1
.
7
0

1
.
7
0

1
.
6
1

1
.
4
4

1
.
2
7

1
.
1
1

0
.
9
5

0
.
8
7

0
.
8
8

0
.
9
8

1
.
1
4

1
.
3
0

1
.
4
8

1
.
6
3

1
.
7
0

1
.
7
0

1
.
6
4

1
.
4
9

1
.
3
1

1
.
1
5

0
.
9
9

0
.
8
8

0
.
8
7

0
.
9
5

1
.
1
0

1
.
2
6

1
.
4
3

1
.
6
0

1
.
7
0

1
.
7
0

1
.
6
6

1
.
5
2

1
.
3
4

1
.
1
9

1
.
0
3

0
.
8
9

0
.
8
6

0
.
9
1

1
.
0
6

1
.
2
2

1
.
3
8

1
.
5
6

1
.
6
9

1
.
7
0

1
.
6
8

1
.
5
6

0
.
6
0

0
.
8
6

1
.
2
0

1
.
6
2

2
.
0
2

2
.
2
7

2
.
3
8

2
.
3
8

2
.
2
6

2
.
3
5

2
.
1
7

1
.
8
5

1
.
5
9

1
.
4
3

1
.
2
3

1
.
0
6

0
.
9
9

1
.
0
8

1
.
2
7

1
.
4
6

1
.
6
3

1
.
8
9

2
.
2
1

2
.
3
6

2
.
2
4

1
.
9
3

1
.
6
5

1
.
4
7

1
.
2
9

1
.
0
9

0
.
9
9

1
.
0
5

1
.
2
2

1
.
4
3

1
.
5
8

1
.
8
2

2
.
1
4

2
.
3
5

2
.
2
9

2
.
0
2

1
.
7
2

1
.
5
0

1
.
3
4

1
.
1
3

1
.
0
0

1
.
0
2

1
.
1
6

1
.
3
8

1
.
5
4

1
.
7
4

2
.
0
7

2
.
3
2

2
.
3
3

2
.
1
0

1
.
7
7

1
.
5
4

1
.
3
9

1
.
1
7

1
.
0
2

1
.
0
0

1
.
1
2

1
.
3
3

1
.
5
0

1
.
7
0

1
.
9
9

2
.
2
8

2
.
3
5

2
.
1
7

1
.
8
4

1
.
5
9

1
.
4
3

1
.
2
3

1
.
0
6

0
.
9
9

1
.
0
8

1
.
2
8

1
.
4
7

1
.
6
4

1
.
9
0

2
.
2
2

2
.
3
6

2
.
2
2

1
.
9
1

0
.
8
4

1
.
1
7

1
.
6
4

2
.
1
8

2
.
7
6

3
.
1
2

3
.
1
8

3
.
0
6

2
.
8
8

2
.
9
9

2
.
7
3

2
.
2
7

1
.
9
8

1
.
7
9

1
.
4
8

1
.
2
1

1
.
1
3

1
.
2
4

1
.
5
4

1
.
8
3

2
.
0
3

2
.
3
4

2
.
8
0

3
.
0
0

2
.
8
3

2
.
3
8

2
.
0
4

1
.
8
4

1
.
5
7

1
.
2
6

1
.
1
3

1
.
1
9

1
.
4
5

1
.
7
7

1
.
9
8

2
.
2
4

2
.
7
0

2
.
9
9

2
.
9
1

2
.
5
0

2
.
1
0

1
.
8
9

1
.
6
5

1
.
3
2

1
.
1
5

1
.
1
6

1
.
3
8

1
.
7
0

1
.
9
3

2
.
1
5

2
.
5
9

2
.
9
6

2
.
9
7

2
.
6
1

2
.
1
6

1
.
9
3

1
.
7
1

1
.
3
9

1
.
1
7

1
.
1
5

1
.
3
1

1
.
6
3

1
.
8
9

2
.
1
0

2
.
4
8

2
.
9
0

3
.
0
0

2
.
7
2

2
.
2
6

1
.
9
7

1
.
7
8

1
.
4
7

1
.
2
0

1
.
1
3

1
.
2
5

1
.
5
5

1
.
8
4

2
.
0
3

2
.
3
6

2
.
8
1

3
.
0
0

2
.
8
1

2
.
3
6

1
.
0
7

1
.
4
8

2
.
0
4

2
.
7
7

4
.
5
9

4
.
9
3

4
.
1
8

3
.
1
6

2
.
5
5

2
.
1
8

1
.
7
2

1
.
3
7

1
.
2
8

1
.
4
1

1
.
7
8

2
.
2
5

2
.
6
4

3
.
3
0

4
.
3
5

4
.
9
5

4
.
4
4

3
.
3
8

2
.
6
7

2
.
2
8

1
.
8
3

1
.
4
4

1
.
2
8

1
.
3
5

1
.
6
8

2
.
1
4

2
.
5
3

3
.
0
9

4
.
0
9

4
.
9
2

4
.
6
6

3
.
6
2

2
.
8
1

2
.
3
6

1
.
9
4

1
.
5
1

1
.
2
9

1
.
3
1

1
.
5
8

2
.
0
3

2
.
4
4

2
.
9
1

3
.
8
3

4
.
8
0

4
.
8
3

3
.
8
8

2
.
9
4

2
.
4
5

2
.
0
5

1
.
6
1

1
.
3
2

1
.
2
8

1
.
4
9

1
.
9
1

2
.
3
5

2
.
7
5

3
.
5
7

4
.
6
3

4
.
9
3

4
.
1
4

3
.
1
2

2
.
5
4

2
.
1
6

1
.
7
1

1
.
3
6

1
.
2
8

1
.
4
2

1
.
8
0

2
.
2
6

2
.
6
6

3
.
3
4

4
.
3
9

4
.
9
5

4
.
4
0

1
.
2
6

1
.
7
4

2
.
3
0

6
.
6
9

7
.
5
3

5
.
9
1

4
.
2
0

3
.
1
5

2
.
4
7

1
.
8
7

1
.
4
8

1
.
3
6

1
.
5
2

1
.
9
4

2
.
5
7

3
.
2
8

4
.
4
4

6
.
2
2

7
.
6
1

6
.
4
0

4
.
5
6

3
.
3
5

2
.
6
2

2
.
0
0

1
.
5
5

1
.
3
7

1
.
4
6

1
.
8
2

2
.
4
1

3
.
0
8

4
.
0
9

5
.
7
4

7
.
4
6

6
.
8
7

4
.
9
5

3
.
5
4

2
.
7
7

2
.
1
5

1
.
6
4

1
.
4
0

1
.
4
1

1
.
7
1

2
.
2
6

2
.
9
1

3
.
7
8

5
.
2
9

7
.
1
8

7
.
2
5

5
.
3
8

3
.
8
3

2
.
9
4

2
.
3
0

1
.
7
3

1
.
4
3

1
.
3
9

1
.
6
2

2
.
1
1

2
.
7
4

3
.
5
0

4
.
8
8

6
.
7
7

7
.
5
1

5
.
8
4

4
.
1
5

3
.
1
2

2
.
4
4

1
.
8
5

1
.
4
7

1
.
3
7

1
.
5
3

1
.
9
7

2
.
5
9

3
.
3
1

4
.
4
9

6
.
3
0

7
.
6
1

6
.
3
1

1
.
3
7

1
.
9
2

2
.
4
6

6
.
9
9

7
.
6
6

6
.
4
4

4
.
6
7

3
.
3
5

2
.
4
3

1
.
7
7

1
.
3
8

1
.
2
7

1
.
4
1

1
.
8
3

2
.
5
3

3
.
5
2

4
.
9
3

6
.
6
4

7
.
7
2

6
.
7
9

5
.
0
9

3
.
6
3

2
.
6
2

1
.
9
0

1
.
4
5

1
.
2
8

1
.
3
5

1
.
7
0

2
.
3
4

3
.
2
4

4
.
5
2

6
.
2
8

7
.
6
0

7
.
1
3

5
.
5
3

3
.
8
9

2
.
8
3

2
.
0
5

1
.
5
3

1
.
3
0

1
.
3
2

1
.
5
9

2
.
1
6

2
.
9
9

4
.
1
6

5
.
8
6

7
.
3
4

7
.
4
0

5
.
9
6

4
.
2
3

3
.
0
5

2
.
2
2

1
.
6
3

1
.
3
3

1
.
2
9

1
.
5
0

2
.
0
0

2
.
7
6

3
.
8
2

5
.
4
3

7
.
0
5

7
.
6
4

6
.
3
8

4
.
6
1

3
.
3
0

2
.
4
0

1
.
7
5

1
.
3
7

1
.
2
7

1
.
4
2

1
.
8
5

2
.
5
6

3
.
5
6

5
.
0
0

6
.
7
0

7
.
7
7

6
.
7
3

1
.
3
5

1
.
9
9

2
.
5
0

1
.
1
6

1
.
8
2

2
.
3
7

1
.
1
4

1
.
8
3

2
.
4
4

1
.
1
8

1
.
7
7

2
.
2
1

1
.
1
6

1
.
6
0

1
.
8
9

1
.
0
9

1
.
4
0

1
.
6
5

1
.
0
1

1
.
2
5

1
.
5
1

0
.
9
2

1
.
1
2

1
.
3
4

0
.
8
8

1
.
0
4

1
.
2
2

0
.
8
8

1
.
0
4

1
.
2
2

0
.
9
3

1
.
1
2

1
.
3
4

1
.
0
2

1
.
2
5

1
.
5
2

1
.
1
0

1
.
3
9

1
.
6
4

1
.
1
8

1
.
5
9

1
.
8
7

1
.
2
0

1
.
7
8

2
.
2
0

1
.
1
6

1
.
8
4

2
.
4
3

1
.
1
6

1
.
8
2

2
.
3
9

1
.
1
7

1
.
7
2

2
.
1
2

1
.
1
3

1
.
5
2

1
.
7
9

1
.
0
5

1
.
3
4

1
.
5
8

0
.
9
8

1
.
2
0

1
.
4
5

0
.
9
4

1
.
1
0

1
.
3
0

0
.
9
2

1
.
0
8

1
.
2
2

0
.
9
4

1
.
1
1

1
.
2
7

1
.
0
0

1
.
2
1

1
.
4
5

1
.
0
8

1
.
3
4

1
.
5
9

1
.
1
6

1
.
5
1

1
.
7
6

1
.
2
2

1
.
7
0

2
.
0
4

1
.
2
0

1
.
8
5

2
.
3
7

1
.
1
8

1
.
8
8

2
.
4
9

1
.
2
1

1
.
8
4

2
.
3
2

1
.
3
5

1
.
9
3

2
.
4
2

5
.
5
2

5
.
7
0

4
.
9
7

4
.
1
6

3
.
4
4

3
.
0
5

3
.
0
9

3
.
4
7

4
.
2
1

5
.
0
5

5
.
8
1

3
.
0
3

3
.
0
3

3
.
4
4

4
.
2
1

5
.
0
5

5
.
8
0

5
.
6
7

4
.
8
6

4
.
0
2

3
.
3
1

2
.
9
9

3
.
0
4

3
.
4
8

4
.
2
5

5
.
0
8

5
.
8
2

5
.
6
1

4
.
8
1

3
.
9
8

3
.
2
8

2
.
9
8

3
.
0
5

3
.
5
0

4
.
2
9

5
.
1
2

5
.
8
6

5
.
5
7

5
.
4
3

4
.
6
3

3
.
8
0

3
.
1
4

2
.
8
7

2
.
9
7

3
.
4
6

4
.
2
0

4
.
9
8

5
.
6
5

5
.
1
3

1
.
7
6

2
.
2
4

3
.
0
1

7
.
9
9

8
.
3
1

6
.
7
2

5
.
1
0

4
.
2
3

3
.
8
7

3
.
9
0

4
.
2
3

5
.
0
5

6
.
6
2

8
.
4
5

3
.
8
1

3
.
8
2

4
.
1
8

5
.
0
7

6
.
7
2

8
.
4
5

8
.
2
0

6
.
4
2

4
.
8
9

4
.
1
0

3
.
8
0

3
.
8
3

4
.
2
1

5
.
1
3

6
.
8
1

8
.
5
1

8
.
1
1

6
.
3
2

4
.
8
3

4
.
0
8

3
.
7
9

3
.
8
4

4
.
2
4

5
.
1
9

6
.
9
1

8
.
5
7

8
.
0
2

7
.
8
9

6
.
0
4

4
.
6
4

3
.
9
5

3
.
6
9

3
.
7
8

4
.
2
0

5
.
1
7

6
.
9
2

8
.
4
6

7
.
5
3

1
.
5
5

2
.
0
5

2
.
7
8

6
.
4
4

6
.
7
9

5
.
4
3

4
.
3
4

3
.
8
9

3
.
8
4

3
.
8
3

3
.
9
1

4
.
3
3

5
.
3
7

6
.
8
2

3
.
7
3

3
.
7
4

3
.
8
3

4
.
2
9

5
.
4
1

6
.
8
4

6
.
6
7

5
.
1
9

4
.
1
9

3
.
8
1

3
.
7
2

3
.
7
4

3
.
8
4

4
.
3
3

5
.
4
9

6
.
8
6

6
.
6
0

5
.
1
2

4
.
1
6

3
.
8
1

3
.
7
2

3
.
7
4

3
.
8
5

4
.
3
7

5
.
5
7

6
.
9
2

6
.
5
4

6
.
4
5

4
.
9
2

4
.
0
2

3
.
7
2

3
.
6
3

3
.
6
7

3
.
7
9

4
.
3
7

5
.
5
6

6
.
7
5

6
.
0
6

1
.
7
3

2
.
3
2

2
.
9
7

4
.
1
6

4
.
3
0

3
.
8
2

3
.
3
5

3
.
3
5

3
.
4
5

3
.
4
6

3
.
3
6

3
.
3
9

3
.
8
4

4
.
4
4

3
.
3
4

3
.
3
2

3
.
2
2

3
.
3
0

3
.
7
9

4
.
3
6

4
.
3
1

3
.
7
3

3
.
3
1

3
.
2
6

3
.
3
4

3
.
3
2

3
.
2
2

3
.
3
1

3
.
8
2

4
.
3
7

4
.
2
9

3
.
6
6

3
.
2
6

3
.
2
7

3
.
3
4

3
.
3
1

3
.
2
1

3
.
3
6

3
.
8
9

4
.
3
8

4
.
2
7

4
.
1
8

3
.
5
8

3
.
2
2

3
.
2
1

3
.
2
7

3
.
2
3

3
.
1
2

3
.
2
7

3
.
8
2

4
.
2
1

3
.
8
9

1
.
3
4

1
.
8
0

2
.
2
9

2
.
8
7

2
.
9
5

2
.
7
9

2
.
7
0

2
.
8
1

2
.
9
9

3
.
0
0

2
.
8
3

2
.
7
3

2
.
8
8

3
.
1
0

2
.
8
6

2
.
8
3

2
.
6
6

2
.
5
9

2
.
7
9

2
.
9
8

2
.
9
6

2
.
7
6

2
.
6
3

2
.
7
4

2
.
8
7

2
.
8
3

2
.
6
5

2
.
5
9

2
.
7
9

2
.
9
8

2
.
9
5

2
.
7
3

2
.
5
9

2
.
7
0

2
.
8
7

2
.
8
2

2
.
6
8

2
.
6
3

2
.
8
1

2
.
9
9

2
.
9
5

2
.
8
9

2
.
6
8

2
.
5
7

2
.
6
5

2
.
7
9

2
.
7
2

2
.
5
4

2
.
5
1

2
.
7
0

2
.
8
2

2
.
6
5

0
.
9
7

1
.
3
2

1
.
7
2

2
.
0
5

2
.
3
9

2
.
4
6

2
.
4
5

2
.
4
0

2
.
4
4

2
.
5
7

2
.
5
9

2
.
4
7

2
.
4
4

2
.
5
1

2
.
6
2

2
.
3
9

2
.
3
8

2
.
2
6

2
.
2
6

2
.
3
8

2
.
4
7

2
.
4
6

2
.
3
7

2
.
2
9

2
.
3
2

2
.
4
3

2
.
3
7

2
.
2
6

2
.
2
6

2
.
3
7

2
.
4
5

2
.
4
4

2
.
3
4

2
.
2
5

2
.
2
9

2
.
4
0

2
.
4
1

2
.
3
0

2
.
3
1

2
.
4
0

2
.
4
7

2
.
4
5

2
.
4
0

2
.
3
0

2
.
2
3

2
.
2
7

2
.
3
2

2
.
2
7

2
.
1
6

2
.
1
7

2
.
2
6

2
.
3
0

2
.
1
8

0
.
9
6

1
.
2
8

1
.
5
7

1
.
7
4

1
.
7
8

1
.
7
0

1
.
7
4

1
.
8
4

1
.
9
7

2
.
0
7

2
.
1
8

2
.
2
7

2
.
2
9

2
.
2
2

2
.
1
3

2
.
0
5

1
.
9
8

1
.
9
6

2
.
0
3

2
.
0
5

2
.
1
1

2
.
1
9

2
.
1
6

2
.
0
8

1
.
9
8

1
.
9
1

1
.
8
4

1
.
8
4

1
.
8
7

1
.
9
1

1
.
9
5

2
.
0
1

2
.
0
0

1
.
9
4

1
.
8
9

1
.
8
4

1
.
8
0

1
.
8
2

1
.
8
8

1
.
9
3

2
.
0
0

2
.
0
5

2
.
0
3

1
.
9
5

1
.
8
7

1
.
8
2

1
.
7
5

1
.
7
8

1
.
8
5

1
.
9
1

1
.
9
9

2
.
0
5

2
.
0
3

1
.
9
7

1
.
9
0

1
.
8
4

1
.
8
0

1
.
8
0

1
.
8
7

1
.
8
9

1
.
9
6

2
.
0
2

1
.
9
8

1
.
9
2

1
.
8
6

1
.
8
0

1
.
7
6

1
.
7
9

1
.
8
4

1
.
8
8

1
.
9
4

1
.
9
8

1
.
9
0

1
.
8
2

1
.
7
4

1
.
6
7

1
.
5
8

1
.
5
6

1
.
4
9

1
.
3
6

0
.
7
2

0
.
9
6

1
.
1
8

1
.
3
2

1
.
3
6

1
.
2
7

1
.
3
2

1
.
3
9

1
.
5
5

1
.
7
3

1
.
9
0

2
.
0
2

2
.
0
4

1
.
9
7

1
.
8
2

1
.
6
8

1
.
5
6

1
.
5
3

1
.
6
0

1
.
7
0

1
.
7
9

1
.
8
2

1
.
7
9

1
.
7
0

1
.
5
6

1
.
4
5

1
.
3
5

1
.
3
4

1
.
4
1

1
.
4
9

1
.
5
7

1
.
6
2

1
.
6
1

1
.
5
5

1
.
4
6

1
.
3
8

1
.
3
1

1
.
3
3

1
.
4
0

1
.
5
2

1
.
6
2

1
.
6
6

1
.
6
4

1
.
5
6

1
.
4
4

1
.
3
3

1
.
2
6

1
.
2
8

1
.
3
8

1
.
4
9

1
.
6
0

1
.
6
6

1
.
6
5

1
.
5
8

1
.
4
7

1
.
3
8

1
.
3
1

1
.
3
3

1
.
3
9

1
.
4
8

1
.
5
8

1
.
6
2

1
.
6
0

1
.
5
3

1
.
4
2

1
.
3
4

1
.
2
7

1
.
3
0

1
.
3
7

1
.
4
7

1
.
5
5

1
.
5
8

1
.
5
3

1
.
4
1

1
.
2
9

1
.
1
7

1
.
0
7

1
.
0
5

1
.
0
5

0
.
9
9

0
.
7
1

0
.
8
6

0
.
9
8

1
.
0
2

1
.
0
0

1
.
0
5

1
.
1
3

1
.
3
0

1
.
5
1

1
.
7
3

1
.
8
7

1
.
9
1

1
.
8
5

1
.
6
6

1
.
4
8

1
.
3
4

1
.
2
9

1
.
3
4

1
.
4
1

1
.
4
8

1
.
4
7

1
.
4
3

1
.
3
5

1
.
2
0

1
.
0
9

1
.
0
0

1
.
0
0

1
.
0
6

1
.
1
4

1
.
2
3

1
.
2
6

1
.
2
5

1
.
2
1

1
.
1
1

1
.
0
3

0
.
9
7

0
.
9
9

1
.
0
7

1
.
1
6

1
.
2
6

1
.
2
9

1
.
2
7

1
.
2
1

1
.
0
9

0
.
9
9

0
.
9
3

0
.
9
5

1
.
0
3

1
.
1
4

1
.
2
4

1
.
2
9

1
.
2
8

1
.
2
3

1
.
1
2

1
.
0
3

0
.
9
7

0
.
9
9

1
.
0
5

1
.
1
5

1
.
2
3

1
.
2
6

1
.
2
4

1
.
1
9

1
.
0
7

0
.
9
9

0
.
9
4

0
.
9
6

1
.
0
3

1
.
1
1

1
.
1
9

1
.
2
0

1
.
1
6

1
.
0
5

0
.
9
2

0
.
8
0

0
.
7
2

0
.
7
0

0
.
7
0

0
.
6
9

0
.
6
2

0
.
7
1

0
.
7
8

0
.
8
0

0
.
8
5

0
.
9
5

1
.
1
7

1
.
4
4

1
.
7
2

1
.
9
6

2
.
0
3

1
.
9
2

1
.
6
8

1
.
4
3

1
.
2
1

1
.
1
4

1
.
1
7

1
.
2
0

1
.
2
0

1
.
1
8

1
.
1
3

1
.
0
3

0
.
9
2

0
.
8
1

0
.
7
0

0
.
7
0

0
.
7
8

0
.
8
7

0
.
9
3

0
.
9
7

0
.
9
6

0
.
9
1

0
.
8
4

0
.
7
5

0
.
6
7

0
.
7
0

0
.
7
9

0
.
8
7

0
.
9
4

0
.
9
8

0
.
9
6

0
.
9
0

0
.
8
2

0
.
7
2

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
7

0
.
7
6

0
.
8
5

0
.
9
3

0
.
9
8

0
.
9
7

0
.
9
2

0
.
8
5

0
.
7
5

0
.
6
7

0
.
6
9

0
.
7
7

0
.
8
7

0
.
9
2

0
.
9
6

0
.
9
5

0
.
8
9

0
.
8
2

0
.
7
2

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
7

0
.
7
6

0
.
8
2

0
.
8
7

0
.
8
8

0
.
8
4

0
.
7
5

0
.
6
3

0
.
5
0

0
.
4
0

0
.
4
0

0
.
4
3

0
.
4
5

0
.
5
3

0
.
6
2

0
.
7
4

0
.
9
0

1
.
0
5

1
.
2
7

1
.
5
8

1
.
9
7

2
.
3
9

2
.
5
5

2
.
3
4

1
.
9
5

1
.
6
2

1
.
4
0

1
.
2
7

1
.
1
8

1
.
0
8

1
.
0
2

0
.
9
7

0
.
9
1

0
.
8
2

0
.
7
5

0
.
6
9

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
3

0
.
6
5

0
.
6
9

0
.
7
3

0
.
7
7

0
.
7
6

0
.
7
2

0
.
6
8

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
3

0
.
6
6

0
.
7
0

0
.
7
3

0
.
7
6

0
.
7
4

0
.
6
9

0
.
6
6

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
0

0
.
6
0

0
.
6
3

0
.
6
7

0
.
7
1

0
.
7
5

0
.
7
6

0
.
7
2

0
.
6
8

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
9

0
.
7
4

0
.
7
7

0
.
7
5

0
.
7
0

0
.
6
6

0
.
6
2

0
.
5
9

0
.
6
0

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
3

0
.
6
6

0
.
6
6

0
.
6
1

0
.
5
3

0
.
4
6

0
.
3
9

0
.
3
3

0
.
3
0

0
.
2
9

0
.
2
8

0
.
7
6

1
.
0
2

1
.
2
8

1
.
5
6

2
.
0
1

2
.
6
0

3
.
3
1

3
.
6
0

3
.
1
9

2
.
5
6

2
.
0
7

1
.
7
4

1
.
5
1

1
.
2
9

1
.
1
0

0
.
9
8

0
.
8
8

0
.
8
2

0
.
7
7

0
.
7
3

0
.
7
0

0
.
6
8

0
.
6
6

0
.
6
5

0
.
6
7

0
.
7
0

0
.
7
1

0
.
7
1

0
.
6
9

0
.
6
6

0
.
6
5

0
.
6
6

0
.
6
7

0
.
6
7

0
.
6
8

0
.
6
9

0
.
6
8

0
.
6
6

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
3

0
.
6
3

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
3

0
.
6
2

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
5

0
.
6
7

0
.
6
9

0
.
6
9

0
.
6
7

0
.
6
7

0
.
6
6

0
.
6
5

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
7

0
.
6
9

0
.
7
0

0
.
7
0

0
.
6
7

0
.
6
5

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
4

0
.
6
3

0
.
6
1

0
.
5
7

0
.
5
2

0
.
4
7

0
.
4
2

0
.
3
7

0
.
3
4

0
.
3
0

1
.
5
0

1
.
9
8

2
.
6
2

3
.
5
1

4
.
5
0

5
.
0
6

4
.
4
1

3
.
4
6

2
.
7
1

2
.
1
6

1
.
7
7

1
.
4
2

1
.
1
5

0
.
9
9

0
.
9
0

0
.
8
7

0
.
8
6

0
.
8
5

0
.
8
2

0
.
7
9

0
.
7
6

0
.
7
3

0
.
7
4

0
.
7
5

0
.
7
7

0
.
7
6

0
.
7
5

0
.
7
3

0
.
7
4

0
.
7
7

0
.
8
0

0
.
8
1

0
.
8
1

0
.
7
8

0
.
7
3

0
.
7
0

0
.
6
8

0
.
6
9

0
.
7
2

0
.
7
3

0
.
7
2

0
.
7
0

0
.
6
8

0
.
6
9

0
.
7
2

0
.
7
6

0
.
8
0

0
.
8
1

0
.
8
0

0
.
7
8

0
.
7
4

0
.
7
3

0
.
7
4

0
.
7
5

0
.
7
7

0
.
7
6

0
.
7
4

0
.
7
2

0
.
7
3

0
.
7
5

0
.
7
8

0
.
7
8

0
.
7
6

0
.
7
1

0
.
6
3

0
.
5
6

0
.
5
1

0
.
4
6

0
.
4
3

0
.
3
8

0
.
3
3

3
.
7
5

4
.
5
2

5
.
0
4

4
.
4
7

3
.
7
5

2
.
9
0

2
.
2
0

1
.
7
1

1
.
3
6

1
.
1
3

1
.
0
1

0
.
9
9

1
.
0
2

1
.
0
8

1
.
1
1

1
.
0
8

1
.
0
0

0
.
9
2

0
.
8
7

0
.
8
6

0
.
8
9

0
.
9
1

0
.
9
0

0
.
8
7

0
.
8
6

0
.
8
9

0
.
9
6

1
.
0
4

1
.
1
0

1
.
0
8

1
.
0
0

0
.
9
1

0
.
8
4

0
.
8
0

0
.
8
0

0
.
8
3

0
.
8
4

0
.
8
4

0
.
8
2

0
.
8
0

0
.
8
2

0
.
8
8

0
.
9
8

1
.
0
6

1
.
0
9

1
.
0
7

0
.
9
9

0
.
9
1

0
.
8
6

0
.
8
6

0
.
8
9

0
.
9
0

0
.
9
0

0
.
8
7

0
.
8
6

0
.
8
8

0
.
9
5

1
.
0
3

1
.
0
6

1
.
0
3

0
.
9
3

0
.
8
2

0
.
6
9

0
.
6
1

0
.
5
6

0
.
5
1

0
.
4
4

1
.
1
2

1
.
0
5

1
.
0
2

1
.
0
4

1
.
1
4

1
.
3
1

1
.
5
2

1
.
6
1

1
.
5
4

1
.
3
5

1
.
1
8

1
.
0
7

1
.
0
4

1
.
0
6

1
.
0
6

1
.
0
6

1
.
0
5

1
.
0
5

1
.
1
3

1
.
2
7

1
.
4
6

1
.
6
0

1
.
5
9

1
.
4
2

1
.
2
1

1
.
0
6

0
.
9
8

0
.
9
6

0
.
9
6

0
.
9
5

0
.
9
5

0
.
9
6

0
.
9
6

1
.
0
2

1
.
1
4

1
.
3
3

1
.
5
4

1
.
6
2

1
.
5
3

1
.
3
4

1
.
1
7

1
.
0
6

1
.
0
4

1
.
0
5

1
.
0
6

1
.
0
6

1
.
0
4

1
.
0
5

1
.
1
2

1
.
2
7

1
.
4
6

1
.
5
8

1
.
5
4

1
.
3
5

1
.
1
1

0
.
9
3

0
.
7
9

0
.
7
0

0
.
6
1

0
.
5
0

0
.
8
0

0
.
9
4

1
.
0
8

1
.
2
3

1
.
4
7

1
.
8
3

2
.
2
9

2
.
5
4

2
.
3
4

1
.
9
2

1
.
5
8

1
.
3
7

1
.
2
8

1
.
2
4

1
.
2
1

1
.
2
2

1
.
2
6

1
.
3
2

1
.
4
6

1
.
7
4

2
.
1
4

2
.
4
9

2
.
4
6

2
.
0
7

1
.
6
6

1
.
3
8

1
.
2
2

1
.
1
5

1
.
0
8

1
.
0
4

1
.
0
6

1
.
1
3

1
.
1
9

1
.
3
1

1
.
5
4

1
.
9
0

2
.
3
4

2
.
5
4

2
.
3
0

1
.
8
7

1
.
5
5

1
.
3
6

1
.
2
7

1
.
2
3

1
.
2
0

1
.
2
2

1
.
2
6

1
.
3
2

1
.
4
7

1
.
7
6

2
.
1
7

2
.
5
0

2
.
4
1

1
.
9
9

1
.
5
7

1
.
2
6

1
.
0
5

0
.
9
0

0
.
7
2

0
.
5
5

0
.
8
1

1
.
0
3

1
.
3
0

1
.
6
0

2
.
0
2

2
.
6
5

3
.
4
4

3
.
9
6

3
.
4
8

2
.
7
6

2
.
1
6

1
.
7
7

1
.
5
5

1
.
3
9

1
.
3
0

1
.
3
4

1
.
4
7

1
.
6
5

1
.
9
4

2
.
4
4

3
.
1
5

3
.
8
3

3
.
7
8

3
.
0
5

2
.
3
5

1
.
8
5

1
.
5
5

1
.
3
3

1
.
1
6

1
.
0
9

1
.
1
2

1
.
2
6

1
.
4
6

1
.
7
2

2
.
1
4

2
.
7
7

3
.
5
2

3
.
9
5

3
.
4
5

2
.
6
9

2
.
1
1

1
.
7
4

1
.
5
3

1
.
3
7

1
.
3
0

1
.
3
4

1
.
4
8

1
.
6
6

1
.
9
7

2
.
4
9

3
.
2
1

3
.
8
6

3
.
7
3

2
.
9
5

2
.
2
4

1
.
7
3

1
.
3
8

1
.
0
8

0
.
7
9

0
.
5
7

0
.
7
4

1
.
0
4

1
.
4
6

1
.
9
6

2
.
6
6

3
.
6
1

4
.
6
1

5
.
2
3

4
.
6
5

3
.
6
7

2
.
7
9

2
.
1
3

1
.
6
9

1
.
3
9

1
.
2
5

1
.
3
0

1
.
5
2

1
.
9
0

2
.
4
4

3
.
2
4

4
.
2
2

5
.
0
3

4
.
9
6

4
.
1
2

3
.
0
7

2
.
3
3

1
.
7
8

1
.
3
7

1
.
1
1

1
.
0
1

1
.
0
6

1
.
2
6

1
.
6
1

2
.
1
0

2
.
7
9

3
.
7
2

4
.
6
9

5
.
1
9

4
.
5
6

3
.
5
6

2
.
7
1

2
.
0
8

1
.
6
4

1
.
3
6

1
.
2
4

1
.
3
0

1
.
5
4

1
.
9
3

2
.
4
9

3
.
3
0

4
.
3
0

5
.
0
8

4
.
9
2

4
.
0
4

3
.
0
0

2
.
2
1

1
.
6
3

1
.
1
5

0
.
7
9

0
.
5
3

0
.
5
1

0
.
7
4

1
.
1
0

1
.
5
9

2
.
2
4

2
.
9
5

3
.
6
7

4
.
2
0

3
.
7
0

2
.
9
9

2
.
3
3

1
.
7
1

1
.
2
5

0
.
9
8

0
.
8
8

0
.
9
1

1
.
1
0

1
.
4
7

2
.
0
2

2
.
6
5

3
.
3
7

4
.
0
4

3
.
9
8

3
.
3
0

2
.
5
8

1
.
9
2

1
.
3
8

0
.
9
9

0
.
7
7

0
.
7
0

0
.
7
3

0
.
8
9

1
.
2
1

1
.
7
0

2
.
3
1

3
.
0
2

3
.
7
3

4
.
1
8

3
.
6
4

2
.
9
1

2
.
2
6

1
.
6
5

1
.
2
2

0
.
9
6

0
.
8
7

0
.
9
1

1
.
1
2

1
.
5
1

2
.
0
6

2
.
7
0

3
.
4
2

4
.
0
7

3
.
9
3

3
.
2
4

2
.
5
2

1
.
8
3

1
.
2
7

0
.
8
4

0
.
5
6

0
.
3
7

D
o
c
k
i
n
g
 
A
r
e
a

M
i
n
i
m
u
m
 
=
 
2
.
2

A
v
g
/
M
i
n
 
R
a
t
i
o
 
=
 
1
.
7
9

M
a
x
/
M
i
n
 
R
a
t
i
o
 
=
 
3
.
9
1

I
l
l
u
m
i
n
a
n
c
e
 
(
F
c
)

A
v
e
r
a
g
e
 
=
 
3
.
9
4

M
a
x
i
m
u
m
 
=
 
8
.
6



SIT
E 

SU
M

M
AR

Y

SI
TE

 A
RE

A:

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
BU

ILD
IN

G
 A

RE
A 

(1
ST

 F
LO

O
R)

:
PR

O
PO

SE
D 

PA
VI

NG
 A

RE
A:

G
RE

EN
 S

PA
C

E:

ST
AN

DA
RD

 P
AR

KI
NG

:

HA
ND

IC
AP

 SP
AC

ES
 R

EQ
UI

RE
D:

HA
ND

IC
AP

 SP
AC

ES
 P

RO
VI

DE
D:

VA
N 

AC
C

ES
SIB

LE
 S

PA
C

E 
RE

Q
UI

RE
D:

VA
N 

AC
C

ES
SIB

LE
 S

PA
C

E 
PR

O
VI

DE
D:

TO
TA

L P
AR

KI
NG

 S
PA

C
ES

:

1,
81

7,
53

8 
SF

 (+
/-

41
.7

 A
C

RE
S)

23
6,

18
0 

SF
 (1

2.
9%

)
18

2,
15

5 
SF

 (1
0%

)
1,

39
9,

20
3 

SF
 (7

7.
1%

)

11
3 

PA
RK

IN
G

 S
TA

LL
S

5 6 
PA

RK
IN

G
 S

TA
LL

S

1 2 
PA

RK
IN

G
 S

TA
LL

S

11
9 

PA
RK

IN
G

 S
TA

LL
S

IN
DU

ST
RI

AL
 B

UI
LD

IN
G

32
FT

 C
LE

AR
 H

EI
G

HT
+/

-2
36

,1
80

 S
F

F.F
.E

. =
 7

14
'

PROPERTY LINE

20' SIDE YARD BUILDING SETBACK
10' PARKING SETBACK

WEST OAKWOOD ROAD

FU
TU

RE
 S

O
UT

H  
H I

C
K O

R Y
 S

T R
E E

T

PR
O

PE
RT

Y 
LIN

E

40
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 B
UI

LD
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K

10
' P

AR
KI

NG
 S

ET
BA

C
K

ST
O

RM
 W

AT
ER

 P
O

ND
(S

EE
 C

IV
IL)

26
 S

PA
C

ES
 @

 1
2' 

- 0
" E

A.
 =

 3
12

' -
 0

"

R 1
0' 

- 0
"

36
' -

 6
"

20' - 0"26' - 0"20' - 0"13' - 6"

9 
SP

AC
ES

 @
 9

' -
 0

" =
 8

1' 
- 0

"
16

 S
PA

C
ES

 @
 9

' -
 0

" =
 1

44
' -

 0
"

16
 S

PA
C

ES
 @

 9
' -

 0
" =

 1
44

' -
 0

"
9 

SP
AC

ES
 @

 9
' -

 0
" =

 8
1' 

- 0
"

= 
27

' -
 0

"
3 

SP
 @

 9
'-0

"
= 

27
' -

 0
"

3 
SP

 @
 9

'-0
"

R 
20

' - 
0"

R 
20

' - 
0"

R 
20

' -
 0

"
R 

20
' -

 0
"

R 
5' 

- 0
"

R 
5' 

- 0
"

R 
20

' - 
0"

R 
20

' - 
0"

16
 S

PA
C

ES
 @

 9
' -

 0
" =

 1
44

' -
 0

"
8' 

- 0
"

5' 
- 0

"

8' 
- 0

"

8' 
- 0

"
8' 

- 0
"

8' 
- 0

"

5' 
- 0

"

8' 
- 0

"
16

 S
PA

C
ES

 @
 9

' -
 0

" =
 1

44
' -

 0
"

13
 S

PA
C

ES
 @

 9
' -

 0
" =

 1
17

' -
 0

"
13

 S
PA

C
ES

 @
 9

' -
 0

" =
 1

17
' -

 0
"

R 10' -
 0"

R 10
' - 0

"

R 
13

0' 
- 0

"

R 5
0' 

- 0
"R 10' - 0

"

R 10' - 0
"

R 10' - 0
"

R 10' - 0
"

PR
O

JE
C

T 
M

A
N

A
G

ER

D
A

TE

IS
SU

ED
 F

O
R

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

UM
BE

R

PR
O

JE
C

T 
A

RC
H

ITE
C

T
M

A
M

 

PR
O

JE
C

T

O
W

N
ER

RE
V

IS
IO

N
S

SH
EE

T 
 

IN
FO

RM
A

TIO
N

C
O

N
SU

LT
A

N
TS

FR
A

N
KL

IN
, W

IS
C

O
N

SI
N

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 B

UI
LD

IN
G

 F
O

R:

A
05

0D
LP

21
03

23

O
C

TO
BE

R 
12

, 2
02

2

RE
C

O
RD

 D
RA

W
IN

G
S

A
RC

H
IT

EC
TU

RA
L 

SI
TE

 P
LA

N

O
AK

W
O

O
D 

IN
DU

ST
RI

AL
BU

ILD
IN

G
 I

SH
EE

T K
EY

NO
TE

S
02

-0
1

EX
IS

TIN
G

 W
ET

LA
N

D
S 

A
N

D
 E

N
V

IR
O

N
M

EN
TA

L 
C

O
RR

ID
O

R 
TO

RE
M

A
IN

03
-0

1
C

O
N

C
RE

TE
 S

TO
O

P
03

-0
2

C
O

N
C

RE
TE

 S
ID

EW
A

LK
03

-0
3

C
O

N
C

RE
TE

 C
UR

B 
A

N
D

 G
UT

TE
R

10
-0

1
M

O
N

UM
EN

T 
SI

G
N

32
-0

1
LA

N
D

SC
A

PI
N

G
 A

RE
A

32
-0

2
G

RE
EN

SP
A

C
E 

A
RE

A
32

-0
3

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

 A
C

C
ES

SI
BL

E 
PA

RK
IN

G
 S

TA
LL

32
-0

5
ST

O
RM

 W
A

TE
R 

PO
N

D
 (R

EF
ER

 TO
 C

IV
IL

 S
H

EE
TS

)

SC
AL

E
1" 

= 4
0'-

0"
1

AR
CH

ITE
CT

UR
AL

 SI
TE 

PL
AN

21
5 

N
. W

A
TE

R 
ST

RE
ET

, S
U

IT
E 

25
0

M
IL

W
A

U
KE

E,
 W

IS
C

O
N

SI
N

 5
32

02
T 

41
4.

27
7.

97
00

 |
 F

 4
14

.2
77

.9
70

5
sp

sa
rc

h
it
e

c
ts

.c
o

m

TR
UE

 N
O

RT
H

N
O

.
D

ES
C

RI
PT

IO
N

   
   

D
A

TE
1

C
B0

01
10

/2
2/

20
21

2
C

B0
02

11
/2

4/
20

21



1ST FLOOR

100' - 0"

T.O. PRECAST PANEL

137' - 3"

T.O. HIGH PRECAST

138' - 9"

1234567891011121312.9 7.2 6.8 1.11415

18 18 18 18

1ST FLOOR

100' - 0"

T.O. PRECAST PANEL

137' - 3"

T.O. HIGH PRECAST

138' - 9"
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 12.97.26.81.1 14 15

18
18

1ST FLOOR

100' - 0"

T.O. HIGH METAL

PANEL

136' - 6"

T.O. PRECAST PANEL

137' - 3"

T.O. HIGH PRECAST

138' - 9"

ABCDEFG F.9

18 18

1ST FLOOR

100' - 0"

T.O. HIGH METAL

PANEL

136' - 6"

T.O. PRECAST PANEL

137' - 3"

T.O. HIGH PRECAST

138' - 9"

A B C D E F GF.9

18

OAKWOOD INDUSTRIAL 1 - KRONES T.I.
3617 W OAKWOOD RD FRANKLIN, WI 53132

SHEET ISSUE: 06/12/25

3/64" = 1'-0"

EAST ELEVATION - NEW FIRE ACCESS DOORS
1

3/64" = 1'-0"

WEST ELEVATION - NEW FIRE ACCESS DOORS
2

ARCHITECTS, INC.

3/64" = 1'-0"

NORTH ELEVATION - NEW FIRE ACCESS

DOORS
3

3/64" = 1'-0"

SOUTH ELEVATION - NEW FIRE ACCESS

DOORS
4



C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N       
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 
Meeting of February 19, 2026 

 

Certified Survey Map Update 
 

1 
 

E.2. 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends approval of the applications for a Certified Survey 
Map. Recommended Conditions of Approval are provided in the draft Resolution(s). 

Project Name: Costco CSM  
Property Owner: Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance  
Applicant: Brian Konyn, Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance  
Property Address/Tax Key Number: 2710 W. Drexel Avenue,  
 1 & 2 Northwestern Mutual Way, 
 786 9980 003 
Aldermanic District: District 4 
Agent: Brian Konyn 
Zoning District: BP Business Park 
Use of Surrounding Properties: Oak Creek – Business / Vacant (east) 
  Office (north and west) 
 Mixed Use and Multifamily (south)  
Application Request: Certified Survey Map (CSM) 
Staff Planner: Marion Ecks, AICP 
 
The application before the Commission today is a request to update a previously approved two-lot 
Certified Survey Map (CSM).  The applicant, Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance, is seeking 
approval of a CSM to create a new parcel from a portion of the property which is undeveloped. 
The applicants are requesting this revision due to the fact that the WI Department of Transportation 
has released a setback which was required to be shown on the face of the easement.   
 
The applicant has received approval of the full development including this Certified Survey 
Map, Comprehensive Master Plan Amendment, Rezoning / Planned Unit Development (PUD), 
and Site Plan. The entire property is currently owned by Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance.  
The proposed Lot 1 does not have buildings on it.   
 
The proposed land division was reviewed by Plan Commission on August 7, 2025, and 
conditionally approved by Common Council on September 16, 2025 (RES 2025-8378).  A final 
version was submitted for City signatures and recording, however, during the final review process 
the applicants were notified that this release would occur.  The related setback line is no longer 
required to be depicted.  No other aspects of the CSM have changed.   
 
Recommendation 
All resolutions are drafted with a standard set of condition relating to development timelines and 
requirements, approvals from other jurisdictions and departments, etc.  Staff recommends the new 



 2 

resolution include the same conditions as RES 2025-8378 based on review of these applications 
for compliance with the Unified Development Ordinance: 
 
Exhibits: 
 
• Applicant Exhibits  



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
[Draft 02-10-2026] 

RESOLUTION NO. 2026-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION CONDITIONALLY APPROVING A REVISED TWO-LOT CERTIFIED 
SURVEY MAP, BEING A PART OF A PART OF PARCEL 1, IN CERTIFIED SURVEY 

MAP NO. 7389, BEING IN THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 AND SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE 
NORTHEAST 1/4 AND THE NORTHEAST 1/4 AND SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE 

SOUTHEAST 1/4, ALL IN SECTION 12, IN TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 21 EAST, IN 
THE CITY OF FRANKLIN, MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN  

(BRIAN KONYN, NORTHWESTERN MUTUAL LIFE INSURANCE)  
(NORTHWESTERN MUTUAL LIFE INSURANCE, PROPERTY OWNERS) 

              
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, having received an application for approval 
of a certified survey map, such map being a redivision of a part of Parcel 1, in Certified Survey 
Map No. 7389, being in the Southwest 1/4 and Southeast 1/4 of the Northeast 1/4 and the 
Northeast 1/4 and Southeast 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4, all in Section 12, in Township 5 North, 
Range 21 East, in the City of Franklin, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Common Council having reviewed such application and Plan 
Commission recommendation and adopted RES 2025-8378 on September 16, 2025 approving 
requested Certified Survey Map; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the applicants now request approval of a revised Certified Survey Map 
depicting an updated setback on S. 27th St., which the WI Department of Transportation released; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS Common Council having reviewed such application and Plan Commission 
recommendation and the Common Council having determined that such proposed certified 
survey map is appropriate for approval pursuant to law upon certain conditions;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of the 
City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the Certified Survey Map submitted by Brian Konyn, 
Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance, as described above, be and the same is hereby approved, 
subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. That any and all objections made and corrections required by the City of Franklin, by 
Milwaukee County, and by any and all reviewing agencies, shall be satisfied and made by 
the applicant, prior to recording. 

 
2. That all land development and building construction permitted or resulting under this 

Resolution shall be subject to impact fees imposed pursuant to §92-9 of the Municipal 
Code or development fees imposed pursuant to §15-5.0110 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance, both such provisions being applicable to the development and building 



NORTHWESTERN MUTUAL LIFE INSURANCE – CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 
RESOLUTION NO. 2026-_____ 
Page 2 
 

permitted or resulting hereunder as it occurs from time to time, as such Code and 
Ordinance provisions may be amended from time to time. 

 
3. Each and any easement shown on the Certified Survey Map shall be the subject of 

separate written grant of easement instrument, in such form as provided within the City of 
Franklin Design Standards and Construction Specifications and such form and content as 
may otherwise be reasonably required by the City Engineer or designee to further and 
secure the purpose of the easement, and all being subject to the approval of the Common 
Council, prior to the recording of the Certified Survey Map. 

4. Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance, successors and assigns, and any developer of the 
Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance two (2) lot certified survey map project, shall pay 
to the City of Franklin the amount of all development compliance, inspection and review 
fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, 
within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this provision shall be a violation of 
the Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the 
Municipal Code, the general penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from time to 
time. 

5. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance 
and the two (2) lot certified survey map project for the property located at 2710 W. 
Drexel Avenue, 1 & 2 Northwestern Mutual Way (TKN 786 9980 003: (i) being in 
compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and 
ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the 
like, required for and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented for this 
approval. 

6. The applicant shall apply for a Site Plan Amendment to account for changes to their site 
resulting from the CSM prior to the approval of any Site Plan for development of the new 
Lot 1. 

7. The applicant must resolve any technical corrections required by the Engineering or 
Planning Department, or the City Attorney’s Office prior to the recording of the Certified 
Survey Map. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Certified Survey Map, certified by owner, 
Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance be and the same is hereby rejected without final approval 
and without any further action of the Common Council, if any one, or more than one of the 
above conditions is or are not met and satisfied within 180 days from the date of adoption of this 
Resolution. 
 
 BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that upon the satisfaction of the above conditions within 
180 days of the date of adoption of this Resolution, same constituting final approval, and 
pursuant to all applicable statutes and ordinances and lawful requirements and procedures for the 
recording of a certified survey map, the City Clerk is hereby directed to obtain the recording of 
the Certified Survey Map, certified by owner, Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance, with the 
Office of the Register of Deeds for Milwaukee County. 



NORTHWESTERN MUTUAL LIFE INSURANCE – CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 
RESOLUTION NO. 2026-_____ 
Page 3 
 
 

Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
_______day of ____________________, 2026. 

 
Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin 

this _______ day of ____________________, 2026. 
 
 
 
 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Shirley Roberts, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 
 
 
 
 



35
T
H

S
T

DREXEL AVE

27
T
H

S
T

31
S
T

S
T

27
T
H

S
T

DREXEL AVE

31
S
T

S
T

City of Franklin Property Viewer

SE Wisc Reg Planning Comm, SEWRPC, Maxar

Parcel

7/31/2025, 8:53:26 AM
0 0.1 0.20.05 mi

0 0.15 0.30.07 km

1:9,028

Guest

Earthstar Geographics | City of Franklin, WI |





Project Description – Northwestern Mutual Parcel – South 27th Street 

Costco Wholesale Corporation is planning to develop the northwest corner of the 
intersection of South 27th Street and West Drexel Avenue in the City of Franklin, Wisconsin.  
The parcel is a 20.1757-acre site that is to be subdivided from a larger, existing 79.5-acre 
parcel owned by The Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company. 

The portion of the site Costco is anticipating developing is undeveloped and was rough 
graded with the 2001 development of the Northwestern Mutual campus to the north.  The 
non-campus portion of the site includes stormwater ponds that capture runoff from the 
campus and landscape features (including the large prairie area) that were installed with 
the intent of development at a later date.  

The project is planning to commence construction during the 2026 Construction Schedule. 
And opening in late 2026. 

 

The CSM is being resubmitted as a result of a Wisconsin Department of Transportation 
Rescission of Restrictions, a copy is attached via electronic and paper copies submittal. To 
assist with understanding, an overlay of the two CSMs has also been provided. 

 

 

 



1" = 500'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 500250

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 1

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH
SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ
SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS 5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI
FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025

1" = 500'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 500250

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 1

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH
SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ
SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS 5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI
FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025

2064
Text Box
CSM Changes Exhibit
February 9th, 2026
Red: Old CSM Submittal (July 28th, 2025)
Green: New CSM Submittal (February 9th, 2026) 



1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 2

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025
1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 2

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025



1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 3

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025

1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 3

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025



1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 11

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

CRQVHUYDWLRQ AUHD SHU CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3���

03�1��2025

1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 11

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

LINE TABLE
CONSERVATION AREA "D" & "D1"

CRQVHUYDWLRQ AUHD SHU CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3���

03�1��2025



( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 300150

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 14

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025

( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 300150

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 14

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025



S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 18
THIS INSTR80ENT 'RAFTE' %< -2HN P� CAS8CCI� S�2055

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 18
THIS INSTR80ENT 'RAFTE' %< -2HN P� CAS8CCI� S�2055

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�
DOT CERTIFICATION NO. 40-241-0690-02 PER CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 7389
AND CORRECTION INSTRUMENT RECORDED AS DOCUMENT NO. _________________

ACCESS RESTRICTION
All lots and blocks are hereby restricted so that no owner, possessor, user, licensee or other person may have any
right of direct vehicular ingress from or egress to any highway lying within the right-of-way of U.S.H. 241 except for
one access point to STH 241 at the existing median opening approximately 1,265 feet north of Drexel Ave.

 it is expressly intended that this restriction constitute a restriction for the benefit of the public as provided in s.
236.293, Stats., and shall be enforceable by the department or its assigns.  Any access allowed by special exception
shall be confirmed and granted only through the driveway permitting process and all permits are revocable.

NOISE ABATEMENT
The lots of this land division may experience noise at levels exceeding the levels in s. Trans 405.04 Table 1.  These
levels are based on federal standards. The department of transportation is not responsible for abating noise from
existing state trunk highways or connecting highways, in the absence of any increase by the department to the
highway's through-lane capacity.

03�1��2025











































1" = 500'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 500250

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 1

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH
SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ
SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS 5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI
FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025



1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 2

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025



1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 3

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025



L1

L2

L3

L4
L5

L6

L7

L8

L9

L1
0L11

L1
2

L13 L14

L15 L16

L17
L18

L19

L20
L21

L2
2

L2
3L24 L25

L26 L27 L28

L29
L30

L31

L32

L33

L34

L3
5

L3
6

L37L38L39

L4
0L41

L4
2

L4
3

L4
4

L45

L1

L2

L3

L4

L5 L6
L7

L8

L9

AREA
 "A

"

AREA "B"

1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 4

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

:HWODQGV GHOLQHDWHG E\ CHGDUEXUJ VFLHQFH� LLC� RQ
FHEUXDU\ 2�� 2002 SHU CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3���

WETLAND AREA "A"
LINE LENGTHBEARING

L1 247.71N00°02'11"E
L2 22.41S81°40'09"E
L3 62.88S39°49'37"E
L4 28.35S89°43'51"E
L5 109.02N49°59'58"E
L6 69.62N18°08'23"E
L7 76.76N34°25'41"W
L8 31.64N69°50'31"W
L9 108.21N52°10'05"W

L10 21.92N02°28'40"E
L11 13.09N77°18'10"E
L12 32.59N29°06'44"E
L13 49.17N59°22'21"E
L14 40.07S67°46'19"E
L15 50.46S37°18'27"E
L16 52.26S26°36'09"E
L17 16.51S51°52'54"E
L18 56.32N54°46'23"E
L19 26.78S56°00'23"E
L20 62.40S46°57'27"E
L21 61.01N68°14'16"E
L22 33.42S03°31'25"W
L23 36.14S31°37'05"W
L24 39.95S03°40'27"E
L25 40.27S50°02'30"E
L26 51.93S65°24'15"E
L27 75.29S89°05'18"E
L28 20.39S03°47'11"E
L29 16.57S73°47'55"W
L30 46.24S52°46'44"W
L31 64.78S01°46'36"E
L32 6.84S86°20'03"W
L33 50.40N02°49'45"W
L34 21.04N82°43'27"W
L35 26.67N01°12'13"E
L36 21.37N13°06'53"E
L37 57.66N70°36'09"W
L38 19.58N53°02'09"W
L39 82.08S63°55'45"W
L40 35.49S31°34'59"W
L41 34.51S71°59'39"W
L42 49.75S46°36'13"W
L43 118.65S09°23'32"W
L44 85.12S41°10'51"W
L45 138.14S88°00'24"W

LINE TABLE

L1 9.34N00°02'11"E
L2 26.50N47°47'33"E
L3 94.59N00°29'46"E
L4 79.77N01°29'18"W
L5 14.01N17°07'26"E
L6 32.76S07°01'22"E
L7 39.06S16°11'24"E
L8 124.24S05°22'29"W
L9 33.33S50°37'56"W

LINE TABLE

BEARING LENGTHLINE
WETLAND AREA "B"

03�1��2025



L1
L2

L3
L4

L5

L6

L7

L8

L9

L1
0

AREA "C"

L1
L2

L3

L4

L5

L6

L7
L8

L9

AREA "D"

1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 5

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

L1 105.89N51°05'32"E
L2 17.44S52°30'46"E
L3 67.22S28°39'44"W
L4 261.57S00°46'35"W
L5 79.64S14°21'05"W
L6 29.96S57°17'26"W
L7 163.72S08°56'30"E
L8 8.75S83°30'06"W
L9 49.60N41°01'56"W

L10 483.28N00°02'11"E

WETLAND AREA "C"
LINE LENGTHBEARING

LINE TABLE

L1 36.10S09°36'34"W
L2 51.45S36°34'00"W
L3 87.12S09°23'27"W
L4 118.67S01°39'43"E
L5 97.38S07°12'28"W
L6 143.77N05°24'57"W
L7 153.16N04°46'54"E
L8 68.63N25°40'27"E
L9 36.93N56°19'27"E

LINE TABLE

BEARING LENGTHLINE
WETLAND AREA "D"

:HWODQGV GHOLQHDWHG E\ CHGDUEXUJ VFLHQFH� LLC� RQ
FHEUXDU\ 2�� 2002 SHU CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3���

03�1��2025



AREA "E"

AREA "F"

AREA "G"

1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 6

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

L1 107.53S89°57'30"W
L2 31.03S43°38'25"W
L3 12.03S86°01'49"W
L4 38.62N01°13'58"E
L5 18.10S83°52'21"E
L6 19.81S47°28'21"E

LINE TABLE

BEARING LENGTHLINE
WETLAND AREA "E"

48.49
40.90
60.70
11.75
15.44
11.32
11.39

S08°14'59"W
S03°54'08"E
S25°13'00"E
N47°45'50"E
N07°46'06"E
N55°01'10"E
N86°29'53"E

L15
L14
L13
L12
L11
L10

L9

L1 42.12N39°41'48"W
L2 29.03N67°57'08"W
L3 9.56N22°50'33"W
L4 23.23N31°57'21"E
L5 17.43N14°47'19"W
L6 22.54N56°48'15"W
L7 21.57N06°12'11"E
L8 15.96S55°05'44"E

WETLAND AREA "G"
LINE LENGTHBEARING

LINE TABLE

45.79
20.80
21.04

142.87

N71°43'09"W
N58°43'41"W
N29°04'29"W
N62°15'29"W

L30
L29
L28
L27

L1 64.62S80°33'58"E
L2 35.16S47°47'18"E
L3 45.53S22°23'57"E
L4 67.83S08°43'41"E
L5 97.69S03°33'48"E
L6 88.31S00°11'50"E
L7 14.61N80°17'14"E
L8 28.62N15°08'00"E
L9 54.18N12°28'30"W

L10 37.10N33°30'20"E
L11 52.11S85°39'03"E
L12 69.09N80°17'16"E
L13 20.31N29°04'21"E
L14 53.93N75°53'43"E
L15 21.07S30°59'58"E
L16 79.47S06°53'13"E
L17 46.38S24°23'07"E
L18 20.31N77°22'08"E
L19 5.60S20°11'15"E
L20 36.13S10°27'27"W
L21 56.52S26°20'34"W
L22 46.31S14°31'36"W
L23 27.69S10°29'35"W
L24
L25
L26

L31

22.46N79°46'27"W

L32

27.17N39°08'41"W

L33

78.40N08°40'12"W

L34

170.73N01°02'19"W

L35

44.38N29°08'21"W

L36

43.48N47°57'12"W

L37

24.50N75°08'54"W
22.26S82°38'17"W
17.06N44°32'24"W
16.23N60°00'46"E

WETLAND AREA "F"
LINE LENGTHBEARING

LINE TABLE

:HWODQGV GHOLQHDWHG E\ CHGDUEXUJ
VFLHQFH� LLC� RQ FHEUXDU\ 2�� 2002
SHU CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3���

03�1��2025



WETLAND I

369.84'
S87°43'22"W

S87°43'22"W 1111.24'

WETLAND H

1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 7

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

LINE TABLE
WETLAND AREA "H"

LINE TABLE
WETLAND AREA "I"

:HWODQGV GHOLQHDWHG E\ CHGDUEXUJ VFLHQFH� LLC� RQ
FHEUXDU\ 2�� 2002 SHU CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3���

03�1��2025



1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 8

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

LINE TABLE
CONSERVATION AREA "A" & "A1"

CRQVHUYDWLRQ AUHD SHU CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3���

03�1��2025



1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 9

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

CONSERVATION AREA "B"
LINE TABLE

CRQVHUYDWLRQ AUHD SHU CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3���

03�1��2025



1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 10

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

CONSERVATION AREA "C" & "C1"
LINE TABLE

CRQVHUYDWLRQ AUHD SHU CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3���

03�1��2025



1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 11

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

LINE TABLE
CONSERVATION AREA "D" & "D1"

CRQVHUYDWLRQ AUHD SHU CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3���

03�1��2025



1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 12

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

LINE TABLE
CONSERVATION AREA "E"

CRQVHUYDWLRQ AUHD SHU CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3���

03�1��2025



1" = 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 200100

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 13

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

LINE TABLE
CONSERVATION AREA "G"

LINE TABLE
CONSERVATION AREA "F"

LINE TABLE
CONSERVATION AREA "H"

CRQVHUYDWLRQ AUHD SHU CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3���

03�1��2025



( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 300150

S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 14

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025



S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 15

S8R9E<2R'S CERTIFICATE

STATE 2F :ISC2NSIN `
                  �SS
:A8.ESHA C28NT<   `

I� -2HN P� CAS8CCI� PURIHVVLRQDO LDQG SXUYH\RU� GR KHUHE\ FHUWLI\�

THAT I KDYH VXUYH\HG� GLYLGHG DQG PDSSHG D GLYLVLRQ RI D SDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR�
�3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG
SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS 5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI
FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ� ERXQGHG DQG GHVFULEHG DV IROORZV�

CRPPHQFLQJ DW WKH NRUWKHDVW FRUQHU RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI VDLG SHFWLRQ 12� WKHQFH SRXWK ��� �3' 22"
:HVW DORQJ WKH NRUWK OLQH RI VDLG 1�� SHFWLRQ D GLVWDQFH RI �1�5� IHHW WR D SRLQW LQ WKH :HVW OLQH RI SRXWK 2�WK
SWUHHW DQG WKH SRLQW RI EHJLQQLQJ RI ODQGV WR EH GHVFULEHG� WKHQFH SRXWK 00� 01' 0�" :HVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH
���5 IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK 0�� 0�' 15" :HVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 1��0� IHHW WR D SRLQW LQ WKH NRUWK OLQH
RI NRUWKZHVWHUQ 0XWXDO :D\� WKHQFH SRXWK ��� 3�' 0�" :HVW DORQJ VDLG NRUWK OLQH ����2 IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH
SRXWK ��� 55' 0�" :HVW DORQJ VDLG NRUWK OLQH 12��0� IHHW WR D SRLQW LQ WKH :HVW OLQH RI VDLG NRUWKZHVWHUQ
0XWXDO :D\� WKHQFH SRXWK 00� 02' 30" EDVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 11��00 IHHW WR D SRLQW LQ WKH SRXWK OLQH RI VDLG
NRUWKZHVWHUQ 0XWXDO :D\� WKHQFH NRUWK ��� 55' 0�" EDVW DORQJ VDLG SRXWK OLQH 150�00 IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH
SRXWK �5� 00' 1�" EDVW DORQJ VDLG SRXWK OLQH 51�21 IHHW WR D SRLQW LQ WKH :HVW OLQH RI SRXWK 2�WK SWUHHW� WKHQFH
SRXWK 05� 1�' 1�" EDVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 150�0� IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK 00� 02' 30" EDVW DORQJ VDLG
:HVW OLQH 2�5��3 IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK ��� 5�' 30" :HVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 15�00 IHHW WR D SRLQW�
WKHQFH SRXWK 00� 02' 30" EDVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 2�5�01 IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK ��� 5�' 30" :HVW
DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 5�00 IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK 00� 02' 30" EDVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 100�00 IHHW WR D
SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK ��� 5�' 30" :HVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 5�00 IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK 00� 02' 30" EDVW
DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH ������ IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH NRUWK ��� 5�' 30" EDVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 5�00 IHHW WR D
SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK 00� 02' 30" EDVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 1���22 IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH NRUWK ��� 5�' 30" EDVW
DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 15�50 IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK 00� 02' 30" EDVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 3�3��� IHHW WR D
SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK 0�� 32' 22" :HVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 1����0 IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK 00� 01' �5"
EDVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 22���� IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK 32� 50' ��" :HVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 10���3
IHHW WR D SRLQW LQ WKH NRUWK OLQH RI :HVW 'UH[HO AYHQXH�

(FRQWLQXHG RQ VKHHW 1� )

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025



S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 16

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

S8R9E<2R'S CERTIFICATE

(FRQWLQXHG IURP VKHHW 15 )

WKHQFH SRXWK ��� 00' 2�" :HVW DORQJ VDLG NRUWK OLQH 1153��2 IHHW WR D SRLQW LQ WKH EDVW OLQH RI SRXWK 31VW
SWUHHW� WKHQFH NRUWK 00� 02' 11" EDVW DORQJ VDLG EDVW OLQH 2322��2 IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK ��� 5�' ��"
EDVW DORQJ VDLG EDVW OLQH 5�00 IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH NRUWK 00� 02' 11" EDVW DORQJ VDLG EDVW OLQH 2����� IHHW WR
D SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK ��� �3' 22" :HVW 52�52 IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH NRUWK 00� 02' 1�" EDVW 331�3� IHHW WR D
SRLQW LQ WKH SRXWK OLQH RI CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� 5���� WKHQFH NRUWK ��� �1' 30" EDVW DORQJ VDLG SRXWK OLQH
������ IHHW WR D SRLQW�  WKHQFH SRXWK 00� 00' 2�" EDVW 1�5��3 IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH NRUWK ��� �2' 5�" EDVW
315�01 IHHW WR D SRLQW LQ WKH :HVW OLQH RI SRXWK 2�WK SWUHHW� WKHQFH SRXWK 0�� 3�' 52" :HVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW
OLQH ����� IHHW WR D SRLQW� WKHQFH SRXWK 00� 00' 2�" EDVW DORQJ VDLG :HVW OLQH 11��35 IHHW WR WKH SRLQW RI
EHJLQQLQJ�

SDLG ODQG FRQWDLQV 3���0���� VTXDUH IHHW RU ����001 DFUHV�

THAT I KDYH PDGH WKH VXUYH\� ODQG GLYLVLRQ DQG PDS E\ WKH GLUHFWLRQ RI� THE N2RTH:ESTERN
08T8AL LIFE INS8RANCE C20PAN<

THAT WKH PDS LV D FRUUHFW UHSUHVHQWDWLRQ RI DOO WKH H[WHULRU ERXQGDULHV RI WKH ODQG VXUYH\HG DQG WKH
ODQG GLYLVLRQ WKHUHRI PDGH�

THAT I KDYH IXOO\ FRPSOLHG ZLWK CKDSWHU 23��3� RI WKH :LVFRQVLQ SWDWXWHV DQG WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ
8QLILHG 'HYHORSPHQW 2UGLQDQFH 'LYLVLRQ�15 LQ VXUYH\LQJ� GLYLGLQJ� DQG PDSSLQJ WKH VDPH�

(SEAL)
FLHOG GDWH -2HN P� CAS8CCI

PR2FESSI2NAL LAN' S8R9E<2R   S�2055

CIT< 2F FRAN.LIN C2002N C28NCIL APPR29AL 	 'E'ICATI2N ACCEPTANCE

APPR29E' E\ WKH CRPPRQ CRXQFLO RI WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ E\ RHVROXWLRQ NR� 

VLJQHG RQ WKLV � GD\ RI � 2025�

-RKQ NHOVRQ� 0D\RU

SKLUOH\ RREHUWV� CLW\ FOHUN

03�1��2025



S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 17

2:NER'S CERTIFICATE

THE N2RTH:ESTERN 08T8AL LIFE INS8RANCE C20PAN<� D FRPSDQ\ GXO\ RUJDQL]HG DQG H[LVWLQJ
XQGHU DQG E\ YLUWXH RI WKH ODZV RI WKH SWDWH RI :LVFRQVLQ� DV RZQHU� FHUWLILHV WKDW VDLG FRUSRUDWLRQ KDV FDXVHG WKH
ODQG GHVFULEHG RQ WKLV PDS WR EH VXUYH\HG� GLYLGHG� GHGLFDWHG DQG PDSSHG LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK WKH UHTXLUHPHQWV RI
CKDSWHU 23��3� RI WKH :LVFRQVLQ SWDWXWHV DQG WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ 8QLILHG 'HYHORSPHQW 2UGLQDQFH 'LYLVLRQ�15�

THE N2RTH:ESTERN 08T8AL LIFE INS8RANCE C20PAN<� GRHV IXUWKHU FHUWLI\ WKDW WKLV PDS LV
UHTXLUHG E\ S�23��10 RU 23��12 WR EH VXEPLWWHG WR WKH IROORZLQJ IRU DSSURYDO RU REMHFWLRQ�  CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ

IN :LWQHVV :KHUHRI� THE N2RTH:ESTERN 08T8AL LIFE INS8RANCE C20PAN< KDV FDXVHG WKHVH
SUHVHQWV WR EH

VLJQHG E\ BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB LWV BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB� WKLV  GD\ RI � 2025�

THE N2RTH:ESTERN 08T8AL LIFE
INS8RANCE C20PAN<

STATE 2F `
�SS

 C28NT< `

PERS2NALL< FDPH EHIRUH PH WKLV    GD\ RI � 2025�

 RI WKH DERYH QDPHG THE N2RTH:ESTERN 08T8AL LIFE INS8RANCE C20PAN<�
WR PH NQRZQ WR EH WKH SHUVRQ ZKR H[HFXWHG WKH IRUHJRLQJ LQVWUXPHQW� DQG WR PH NQRZQ WR EH WKH

 RI VDLG FRPSDQ\� DQG DFNQRZOHGJHG WKDW KH H[HFXWHG WKH IRUHJRLQJ LQVWUXPHQW�

(SEAL)                                                              

NRWDU\ PXEOLF� SWDWH RI 

0\ CRPPLVVLRQ E[SLUHV 

THIS INSTR80ENT 'RAFTE' %< -2HN P� CAS8CCI� S�2055

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�

03�1��2025



S:\5169608\dwg\ 169608 CS10.dwg \ SHEET 18
THIS INSTR80ENT 'RAFTE' %< -2HN P� CAS8CCI� S�2055

CERTIFIE' S8R9E< 0AP N2� BBBBBBB
PDUW RI PDUFHO 1� LQ CHUWLILHG SXUYH\ 0DS NR� �3��� EHLQJ LQ WKH  SRXWKZHVW 1��  DQG SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH
NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG WKH NRUWKHDVW 1�� DQG  SRXWKHDVW 1�� RI WKH SRXWKHDVW 1��� DOO LQ SHFWLRQ 12� LQ TRZQVKLS
5 NRUWK� RDQJH 21 EDVW� LQ WKH CLW\ RI FUDQNOLQ� 0LOZDXNHH CRXQW\� :LVFRQVLQ�
DOT CERTIFICATION NO. 40-241-0690-02 PER CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 7389
AND CORRECTION INSTRUMENT RECORDED AS DOCUMENT NO. _________________

ACCESS RESTRICTION
All lots and blocks are hereby restricted so that no owner, possessor, user, licensee or other person may have any
right of direct vehicular ingress from or egress to any highway lying within the right-of-way of U.S.H. 241 except for
one access point to STH 241 at the existing median opening approximately 1,265 feet north of Drexel Ave.

 it is expressly intended that this restriction constitute a restriction for the benefit of the public as provided in s.
236.293, Stats., and shall be enforceable by the department or its assigns.  Any access allowed by special exception
shall be confirmed and granted only through the driveway permitting process and all permits are revocable.

NOISE ABATEMENT
The lots of this land division may experience noise at levels exceeding the levels in s. Trans 405.04 Table 1.  These
levels are based on federal standards. The department of transportation is not responsible for abating noise from
existing state trunk highways or connecting highways, in the absence of any increase by the department to the
highway's through-lane capacity.

03�1��2025



 
 

1 

 CITY OF FRANKLIN  
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 

Meeting of February 19, 2026 
 

Minor Site Plan Amendment  
 

RECOMMENDATION: City Development staff recommends approval of this Minor Site Plan 
Amendment to install 8-foot high fencing in the side and rear yard of the subject property.  

Project name: Thelen Power Equipment – Minor Site Plan Amendment 
Property Owner: Thelen Properties, LLC 
Applicant: Billy Thelen, Thelen Power Equipment 
Property Address/TKN: 8861 S 27th Street / 855 9946 002  
Aldermanic District: District 4 
Zoning District: B-MU – South 27th Street Mixed Use District 
Staff Planner: Luke Hamill, Associate Planner 
 

Project Description/Analysis  
This request is to allow for the addition of approximately 60 feet of fencing in the side yard of the subject 
property at a height of 8 feet, as well as the replacement of approximately 143 feet of existing 6-foot 
high fencing with 8-foot high fencing. Typically, only 6-foot high fencing is allowed in non-residential 
districts in the City of Franklin. However, Section 15-5-08(G)(1)(b), the Plan Commission may approve 
a height of above 6 feet for a fence located in any lot where the proposed increase provides a functional 
or aesthetic benefit for the proposed use. 
 
The reasoning the applicant gives for the request for the increase in height is that there are elevation 
differences between neighboring properties and the ability see into the properties fenced in area where 
valuable parts and whole goods are stored. The proposed fence will be wood and the same style as the 
existing fence, just with the increased height. 
 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
City Development staff recommends approval of this Minor Site Plan Amendment to install 8-foot high 
fencing in the side and rear yard of the subject property.  
 

Item E.3. 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
             PLAN COMMISSION            [Draft 2-9-26] 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2026-____ 

 
A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE SITE PLAN FOR PROPERTY 

LOCATED AT 8861 S 27TH STREET TO ALLOW FOR THE REPLACEMENT AND 
ADDITION OF 8 FOOT HIGH FENCING 

 (TAX KEY NO. 855-9946-002)  
(BILLY THELEN, APPLICANT 

THELEN PROPERTIES, LLC, PROPERTY OWNER) 
              
 
 WHEREAS, Billy Thelen, applicant, Thelen Properties, LLC, property owner, having 
applied for an amendment to the site plan for the fence located at 8861 S 27th Street; and  
    
 WHEREAS, such proposed amendment is to allow for the replacement of approximately 
143 feet of fencing and the addition of approximately 60 feet of fencing, all at an 8-foot height, 
which requires Plan Commission approval pursuant to Section 15-5-08(G)(1)(b) of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, and the Plan Commission having reviewed such proposal and having 
found same to be in compliance with and in furtherance of those express standards and purposes 
of a Site Plan review pursuant to Section 15-9-03(B) of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin, that the Site Plan for Billy Thelen to install approximately 203 feet of 8-
foot high fencing at 8861 S 27th Street, as submitted by Billy Thelen, as described above, be and 
the same is hereby approved, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Billy Thelen, applicant, Thelen Properties, LLC, property owner, successors and assigns 
and any developer of the fencing project shall pay to the City of Franklin the amount of 
all development compliance, inspection and review fees incurred by the City of Franklin, 
including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, within 30 days of invoice for same.  
Any violation of this provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development 
Ordinance, and subject to §15-9-14 thereof and §1-19. of the Municipal Code, the general 
penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

2. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon Billy Thelen, applicant, Thelen 
Properties, LLC, property owner, and the fencing project for the property located at 8861 
S 27th Street (i) being in compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, 
rules, codes, orders and ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, 
permits, licenses and the like, required for and applicable to the project to be developed 
and as presented for this approval. 

3. The Billy Thelen, fencing project shall be developed in substantial compliance with the 
plans date-stamped January 26, 2026. 



ROC VENTURES, LLC – FRANKLIN FIELD CONCESSION STANDS 
RESOLUTION NO. 2026-_____ 
Page 2 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin, 
Wisconsin, that the Billy Thelen fencing project as depicted upon the plans date-stamped January 
26, 2026, attached hereto and incorporated herein, shall be developed and constructed within two 
years from the date of adoption of this Resolution, or this Resolution and all rights and approvals 
granted hereunder shall be null and void, without any further action by the City of Franklin; and 
the Site Plan for the property located at 8861 S 27th Street, as previously approved, is amended 
accordingly. 
 

Introduced at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin this 19th 
day of February, 2026. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin 
this 19th day of February, 2026. 
 

APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Shirley J. Roberts, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



1 

     
 

 

City of Franklin 
Department of City Development 

 

 

 

Date: January 21, 2025 
To: Billy Thelen, Thelen Power Equipment 
From: Department of City Development. Luke Hamill, Associate Planner. 
RE: Staff Comments, 8861 S 27th Street / 855 9946 002 
 
 
Please be advised that city staff has reviewed the above application received on July 21, 
2025, for a proposed minor site plan amendment for the construction of a 8 foot tall fence 
located at 8861 S 27th Street / 855 9946 002. The following comments are for your review 
and consideration. 

Planning Department 

Your application is scheduled for the February 6 Plan Commission Meeting at Common Council 
Chambers at 6:00 PM. Please provide 12 copies of revised application materials (besides the 
application form) to the Department of City Development by Monday, January 26th. 

Site Plan 

According to Section 15-5-08(G)(2) of the Unified Development Ordinance, fencing in 
nonresidential districts is allowed in interior side and rear yards only and not allowed in front 
yards. The front yard is anywhere from the closest façade of the principal structure to your front 
yard property line. Part of the proposed new fencing would be closer to the front yard property 
line than the existing dwelling. Please revise your plan to have the fence only go up to the closest 
part of the primary dwelling. Screenshot below. The red line is the closest the fence can go along 
the property line. 

https://ecode360.com/47146633


2 

     
 

 

City of Franklin 
Department of City Development 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Engineering Department Comments 

• A separate review will be required when building permits are applied for. 

• Engineering has no comment on the height of the fence 

 



B-MU

B-MU

B-MU

B-MU

100.00'

13
2.
0'

< <

>
100.00'

>

<

<

100.00'

300.00'

>
19
9.
96
'

<

11
7.
64
'

577.75'

163.00'

277.75'

657.78'

<

657.78'

357.78'<

380.13'

99
.9
6'

10
0.
00
'

277.75'

10
0.
00
'

<
13
2.
0'

>
>

>

12
9.
77
'

FRANKLIN TER FRANKLIN TER

27
T
H

S
T

27
T
H

S
T

8911

8861

8879

8853

City of Franklin Property Viewer

SE Wisc Reg Planning Comm, SEWRPC, Microsoft, Vantor

Parcel

2/6/2026, 4:05:13 PM
0 0.01 0.020.01 mi

0 0.02 0.040.01 km

1:1,128

Guest

Earthstar Geographics | City of Franklin, WI |








	01 2026-0219 Plan Commission Agenda
	02 2026-0122 PC Minutes - Draft
	03 Item C.1. & E.1._TID 10 Boundaries & Project Plan
	01 2026-0219 RES TID 10 (change date)1
	02 Franklin, WI - TID 10 Draft Project Plan_JRB
	03 Franklin, WI - TID 10 Creation Presentation - JRB
	Slide 1: Creation of Tax Increment District No. 10 
	Slide 2: What is Tax Increment Financing?
	Slide 3: TIF Fundamentals
	Slide 4: Proposed TID Boundary 
	Slide 5: Equalized Value Test
	Slide 6: Blighting Conditions
	Slide 7: Development Assumptions
	Slide 8: Proposed Poth’s General Site Plan 
	Slide 9: Project List & Development Incentive
	Slide 10: Projected Incremental Value
	Slide 11: Cash Flow Projection
	Slide 12: Timeline


	04 Item C.2._Blomquist_Conditional Use
	01 PC Report - Blomquist Attached ADU CU - 8866 W Puetz Rd
	02 DRAFT RES BLOMQUIST CU 02-19-2026
	03 map
	04 Staff Comments - CU - Blomquist Attached ADU 8866 W Puetz Rd
	05 Legal Description
	06 Conditional Use Project Narrative
	07 Conditional Use Standards Sec 15-9-06-8866 W Puetz Rd 1.26.26
	08 8866 W. Puetz Rd Review Set 1.26.26

	05 Item C.3._Krones_Special Use Amendment
	01 DRAFT Staff Report - Krones CU - 3617 W Oakwood
	02 DRAFT RES - Krones CU - 3617 W Oakwood.docx
	03 map
	04 Applicant Materials Binder1
	2-Legal Description of 3617 W Oakwood Road
	3-Krones Conditional Use Standards Responses11.17.25
	4-25-1118 Narrative - Cond. Zoning Amendment - Krones T.I.
	5-Site Plan Package-Landscape, Outdoor Lighting Etc-10-17-2022
	6-Krones new elevations
	Sheets
	X7 - 11/14/2025 MINOR SITE AMENDMENT - ELEVATIONS




	06 Item E.2._Costco_CSM
	01 DRAFT Staff Report - Costco CSM Update
	02 DRAFT RES NM Property CSM Updated
	03 Map
	04 Applicant Binder1
	DOC021226-02122026113938
	04 Applicant Binder1
	01-Project Description
	02-CSM Changes Exhibit
	03-Costco Franklin_access modification letter_2025-12-11
	04-169608 CS10 Franklin 01-05-26



	07 Item E.3._Thelen_Minor Site Plan Amend
	01 PC Staff Report - Thelen
	02 Thelen Power Equipment SP A 1-26-2025
	03 Staff Comments - mSPA - Thelen - 8861 S 27th Street
	04 map
	05 Project Narrative
	06 Plat of Survey
	07 Elevations


	Date1_af_date: 12/10/25
	Text2: Ben Blomquist
	Text3: 8866 W Puetz Road
	Text4: Proposed ADU size and location meets the criteria required for R-SR zoning: setback distances, building height 14'-6"(<35'), and impervious surface coverage 5,118 sq. ft. (<50%).  Proposed ADU meets UDO section 15-4-13 requirements: location (interior side/rear), size (<1,200 sq. ft.), height (< principle dwelling), served by common driveway, and architectural features.  Proposed ADU shall be owner's primary residence.
	Text5: The property owner has a good relationship with both neighbors to the east and west of the his property.  Both neighbors are aware of the owner's intents of the project and are supportive.  During construction, care will be taken to prevent soil erosion to neighboring properties.  
	Text6: The proposed attached garage and Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) height will not exceed the principle house height.  The ADU will not be visible from the Puetz Road due to its location and height.
	Text7: The existing house shall supply the proposed Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) with water, gas and electricity.  The ADU shall be provided with a sewage lift station and connect its sewer line to the existing house.  
	Text8: The same number of vehicles will be entering/exiting the property as is currently.  The number of occupants living on the property is not increasing with the addition of the ADU.
	Text9: Two locust trees behind the existing garage will be removed.  No other natural features will be removed.  Any top soil disturbed during construction will be repaired with grass seed.
	Text10: I confirm that our proposed use by Krones, Inc. will not result in the destruction, loss, or damage of any natural, scenic, or historic feature of significant importance. We will comply with all requirements, including approval of a Natural Resource Protection Plan by the Plan Commission, to ensure preservation of existing natural features.


